Functional roles of protein phase separated assemblies in cellular stress response and proteinopathies

Michelle Lindström

Department of Chemistry and Molecular Biology Faculty of Science University of Gothenburg



UNIVERSITY OF GOTHENBURG

Gothenburg 2022

Cover illustration: "Spiraling Tides of Assembly Formation" by Karl Persson

Functional roles of protein phase separated assemblies in cellular stress response and proteinopathies © Michelle Lindström 2022 michelle.beatrice.lindstrom@gu.se

ISBN 978-91-8069-063-8 (PRINT) ISBN 978-91-8069-064-5 (PDF)

Printed in Borås, Sweden 2022 Printed by Stema Specialtryck AB

is life a ride to ride or a story to shape and confide or chaos neatly denied *-Bill Callahan*

ABSTRACT

For a long time, pertinent biological conundrums, such as the organization and compartmentalization of the cytoplasm and nucleoplasm, perplexed the scientific community. The organization of the complex biochemistry in an accurate space and time manner could not be explained without the enclosure of a membrane. In recent years, many of the processes relating to membraneless cellular organization and cytoplasmic regulation have become illuminated by the incorporation of liquid-liquid phase separation (LLPS) into biology. Phase separation entails a process by which a homogenous liquid solution of macromolecules, such as proteins or nucleic acids, separates into two distinct co-existing phases, a dense and dilute phase. LLPS thereby enables a spatiotemporal control over complex biochemical reactions, a vital process for cellular functions. Altered phase separation dynamics can lead to aberrant condensate assemblies that mature into a more solid-like state and are associated with disease. The list of cell compartments and biological processes thought to be formed and regulated through the process of phase separation has grown at a fast pace and includes a plethora of cellular functions, such as stress granule (SG) formation and disease associated protein aggregation. However, the mechanisms regulating the formation, and subsequent impact, of these phase-separated assemblies still remain elusive.

In this thesis, regulation of SG formation is explored using genome-wide phenomic screening. The results show a signaling cascade involving e.g. long-chain-base sphingolipids and ubiquitin, regulating the phase separation behavior of Lsm7 and further SG induction. Cellular consequences of cytotoxic aggregation of the ALS-associated disease protein FUS (fused in sarcoma) are also explored. A cytotoxic gain-offunction involving protein sequestration, resulting in delayed cell cycle progression, is identified. Overall, our findings elucidate the underlying mechanisms and cellular impacts of phase separated assemblies in health and disease.

Keywords: phase separation, LLPS, stress granules, Lsm7, FUS, Ccr4

SAMMANFATTNING

Hur molekyler organiseras och grupperas i den cellulära cytoplasman och nukleoplasman orsakade länge huvudbry inom det vetenskapliga samfundet. Organiseringen av den komplexa biokemiska miljön kunde inte förklaras utan att involvera omhöljande membran, som fallet är för mitokondrier eller cellkärnan. Under de senaste åren har dock en process som involverar fasseparation av vätskor kommit att klarlägga dessa frågor. Fasseparation av vätskor innebär att två separata faser uppstår ur en homogen lösning med makromolekyler bestående av till exempel proteiner och nukleinsyror. Den ena fasen innehåller därmed molekyler som inte är representerade i den andra fasen. Denna fasseparation av vätskor möjliggör således spatiotemporal reglering av komplexa biokemiska reaktioner och skapande av biomolekylära kondensat, en process som är väsentlig i åtskilliga cellulära funktioner. Rubbning av denna process kan leda till bildande av abnorma sjukdomsrelaterade kondensat som har förmågan att utvecklas till mer stabila strukturer över tid. Rapporter om biologiska processer som involverar fasseparation har ökat markant de senaste åren men många av de underliggande mekanismerna är fortfarande outforskade, såsom initieringen av stressgranuler och de cellulära implikationerna av sjukdomsrelaterad proteinaggregering.

I denna avhandling utforskar vi bland annat hur bildningen av stressgranuler regleras. Våra resultat visar att en signaleringskaskad som inkluderar exempelvis sfingolipider och ubikvitin reglerar fassepareringen av proteinet Lsm7 vilket följaktligen påverkar initieringen av stressgranuler. Vi diskuterar ytterligare de cellulära konsekvenserna av abnorm fasseparering av FUS, ett protein som har påvisats bilda sjukdomsaggregat hos patienter med amyotrofisk lateralskleros. Vi påvisar att FUS-aggregering resulterar i förändrade funktioner hos andra proteiner vilket i sin tur försenar cellcykelns fortskridning. Våra resultat belyser därmed underliggande mekanismer och konsekvenser av fasseparering i både sjukdom och hälsa.

LIST OF PAPERS

This thesis is based on the following studies, referred to in the text by their Roman numerals.

Lindström[•], M., L. Chen^{*}, S. Jiang, D. Zhang, Y. Gao, J. Zheng, X. Hao, X. Yang, A. Kabbinale, J. Thoma, L. C. Metzger, D. Y. Zhang, X. Zhu, H. Liu, C. M. Gustafsson, B. M. Burmann, J. Winderickx, P. Sunnerhagen and B. Liu. Lsm7 phase-separated condensates trigger stress granule formation.

Nature Communications, **13**:3701 (2022). *Contributed equally.

II. Chen, L., M. Lindström, Y. Gao, X. Hao, S. Jiang, X. Yang, H. Liu, P. Sunnerhagen and B. Liu. Stress granule formation is regulated by a signaling machinery involving Sch9/Ypk1, sphingolipids, and Ubi4.

Submitted, 2022.

III. Lindström, M., L. Chen, Y. Gao and B. Liu. FUS-induced abnormal protein assembly formation and cell cycle delay in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*.

Manuscript, 2022

Not included in this thesis:

Liu, Q., X. Zhu, **M. Lindström**, Y. Shi, J. Zheng, X. Hao, C. M. Gustafsson and B. Liu. Yeast mismatch repair components are required for stable inheritance of gene silencing. *PLOS Genetics*, **16**: e1008798 (2020).

Lindström, M. & B. Liu. Yeast as a Model to Unravel Mechanisms Behind FUS Toxicity in Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis. *Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience*, **11** (2018)

TABLE OF CONTENTS

AIM OF THE THESIS	1
INTRODUCTION	2
The concept of phase separation	2
LLPS of ribonucleoprotein granules	4
Stress granules	5
Stress granule asssembly	7
Stress granule disassembly	9
Processing bodies	10
Lsm1-7 complex	12
Ccr4-Not complex	14
Functions of individual components	16
Cell cycle regulation	
Phase separation in neurodegenerative disorders	19
Yeast models of neurodegeneration	20
Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis	22
FUsed in Sarcoma (FUS)	23
FUS-ALS	
Interaction with SGs and PBs	
Phase separation of FUS	
MAIN FINDINGS	
Paper I	
Paper II	
Paper III	
CONCLUDING REMARKS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	
REFERENCES	

AIM OF THE THESIS

Liquid-liquid phase separation (LLPS) has been implicated in the formation of a multitude of biomolecular condensates, including stress granules. LLPS is therefore considered to be a vital and ubiquitous process needed for various cellular functions. However, the mechanisms underlying the formation of these phase separated assemblies still remain elusive. Altered phase separation dynamics can further lead to aberrant condensate assemblies that have matured into a more solid-like state. These aberrant forms of condensates are associated with disease, such as the cytotoxic aggregation of human FUS (fused in sarcoma) protein in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS), further underscoring the importance of elucidating the different aspects underlying phase separated assemblies in both health and disease.

This thesis compiles a total of three research papers which demonstrate mechanisms and cellular impacts of phase separated assemblies at a genomewide scale. The initial part of the thesis introduces the concept of phase separation and further describes its role in the formation of ribonucleoprotein granules, and more specifically stress granules and processing bodies. Next, known aspects of phase separation in a disease context are described, with further emphasis on the human disease protein FUS. The papers can therefore be divided into two main groups that explore different aspects of phase separation. In **Paper II**, we explore a regulatory mechanism behind stress granule formation. In **Paper III**, focus lies on the cellular consequences of aberrant FUS protein phase separation and subsequent aggregation.

INTRODUCTION

THE CONCEPT OF PHASE SEPARATION

The development of various organelle structures is a vital feature of biological evolution. The existence of contained chemical microenvironments within the cytoplasm of eukaryotic cells enables the sequestration of molecules and proteins, thereby increasing the reaction rate of biochemical processes and critical functions. Enabled by the lipid bilayer membranes, membrane-bound organelles can harbor specific molecules in a restricted space separated from the rest of the cytoplasm¹. This is a necessary feature underscored by the consequences of leakage from these confined spaces, such as the release of cytochrome c from mitochondria resulting in apoptosis².

In addition to membrane-bound organelles, such as the nucleus, endoplasmic reticulum and mitochondria, eukaryotic cells also harbor membraneless organelles, such as nucleoli, Cajal bodies, processing bodies (PBs) and stress granules (SGs). As suggested by the name, these organelles lack an encapsulating membrane³. Even though lacking a membrane separating them from the immediate environment, these cytoplasmic and nuclear organelles are stable and capable of controlled exchange with its surrounding⁴. But how are these structures formed and controlled without the support of a membrane?

Already in 1899, E. B. Wilson hypothesized that the cytoplasm of cells behaves like a mixture of different chemically suspended drops⁵. Subsequently, in 1999, it was suggested that a high intracellular concentration of two incompatible macromolecules should result in demixing in the cytoplasm, i.e. molecular crowding could promote liquid-liquid phase separation (LLPS) in the cytosol⁶. However, evidence in support of this was not found until 2009, when P granules in *Caenorhabditis elegans* were shown to be driven by a controlled dissolution and condensation of granule components, resulting in a structure behaving in a liquid-like manner, also referred to as condensates⁷. This process of separation of a well-mixed liquid solution into two distinct

liquid phases, where one phase contains enriched components lacking in the other phase, is the essence of LLPS⁸. Subsequently, LLPS has been shown to be involved in various processes, such as heterochromatin assembly, immune signaling, autophagy and disease development⁹⁻¹². LLPS has been further implicated in the formation of eukaryotic membraneless organelles, such as PBs, nucleoli and SGs^{7,13-15}. The process of LLPS is thereby emerging as a crucial mechanism in explaining the formation and function of membraneless organelles and phase-separated assemblies¹⁶.

Biomolecular condensates have been found to be enriched with multivalent molecules, i.e. molecules containing multiple sites capable of potential interor intra-molecular interactions, referred to as multivalency¹⁷. Multivalency has thus been established as a driving force of phase separation^{18,19}. Two types of multivalent interactions have been identified as contributing to LLPS, (1) intracellular protein-protein, protein-RNA and RNA-RNA interactions and (2) weak, transient multivalent interactions between intrinsically disordered regions (IDRs), such as cation-anion interactions, π - π interactions, π -cation interactions and dipole–dipole interactions^{17,20,21}. LLPS can therefore be described as the product of the force of electrochemical gradients established through multivalent interactions within and between proteins and RNA (Figure 1). Multivalency also provides an explanation as to how the assembly of condensates can be regulated, since minor changes in the structure's stoichiometry could have forceful effects on the valency of key components²⁰.

It is thought that in their physiological state, certain LLPS condensates form and dissolve frequently upon specific external stimuli. However, some conditions might impair proper dissipation of LLPS droplets, such as certain mutations, chronic stress or aging. This could further result in a phase transition into a more solid-like state, of which, examples have been uncovered in a disease context^{15,22}.



Figure 1. Formation of biomolecular condensates. (a) A multivalent protein or RNA can work as a structural platform/scaffold and initiate nucleation by attracting IDR-containing proteins and RNA in a liquid solution surrounded by other small soluble molecules. (b) Phase separation resulting in a liquid-like condensate where the condensate is enriched in molecules not present in the surrounding. Emergence of more scaffolds, in addition to RNA-RNA, protein-RNA, protein-protein interactions. Created with Biorender.com.

LLPS OF RIBONUCLEOPROTEIN GRANULES

Ribonucleoprotein particle (RNP) granules, termed so due to their high concentration of protein and RNA, are membraneless organelles found both in the nucleus, e.g. paraspeckles and nucleolus, and in the cytoplasm, such as SGs and PBs²³. RNP granules are membraneless biomolecular condensates that form through multivalent interactions resulting in a demixing into two stably co-existing phases, a selective dense phase, enriched for protein and RNA, and a dilute phase²⁴⁻²⁶. As such, RNP granules form through a sum of various protein and RNA interactions, where many RNP granule-associated proteins contain IDRs²⁷. Generally, a specific population of RNA is needed for RNPs to form. For instance, both SGs and PBs require non-translating RNAs for their formation and stability^{13,28}. In accordance, RNPs also harbor specific RNA-binding proteins (RBPs), where SGs and PBs display distinct but also shared components^{29,30}. The mRNP composition in these granules determines the fate

of mRNA by regulating various processes, including transport, degradation and translation³¹. It has been shown that a threshold protein and/or RNA concentration is needed for the assembly of RNP granules driven by concentration-dependent LLPS. However, these liquid-like condensates might further convert into a different state, such as hydrogel- or solid-like, if the concentration is exceeded^{32,33}.

It has been proposed that the dynamics of RNP components within the granule is largely controlled by two key principles. First, higher protein or RNA valency results in slower exchange rate due to increased avidity²⁵. The importance of this factor is underscored by the rigid and static features of centrally located mRBPs in RNP granules, indicating these RBPs have many interactions trapping them in the center, whereas RNP surface components are more dynamic, indicative of fewer more transient interactions^{34,35}. Moreover, studies indicate slow dynamics of phase separated RNAs in vitro as well as in RNP granules, reasonable since RNAs would be expected to be highly multivalent due to their generally increased spatial extent and mass, in comparison to proteins³⁴⁻³⁷. Second, tighter affinity for RNA, of any component, results in slower exchange rates. Accordingly, in vitro studies show that RNA affinity correlates with the presented dynamics of RBPs, further supported by in vivo FRAP (fluorescence recovery after photobleaching) measurements of different RNP granule components^{38,39}. Furthermore, RNA self-assembly occurs readily in vitro and biochemical changes increasing/decreasing RNA self-assembly in vitro correspondingly affect RNP granule formation in vivo⁴⁰⁻⁴².

STRESS GRANULES

Eukaryotic cells are frequently exposed to fluctuating and potentially unfavorable environmental conditions, such as chemical, physical and nutritional stress, leading to e.g. starvation and cellular oxidative stress⁴³. To deal with stressful conditions, cells have evolved defense and coping mechanisms enabling energy conservation and protection of macromolecules.

For short-term survival, rapid responses mainly exert their effects at the posttranslational level in the form of post-translational modifications (PTMs), protein binding and protein relocalization. Medium-term survival and recovery are mainly focused on reducing the translation level of house-keeping and proliferation-linked genes, instead prioritizing the synthesis of proteins involved in stress adaptation^{44,45}. Protein synthesis is a major consumer of the cell's energy production and therefore, under stress conditions, translation needs to be tightly regulated. Subsequently, cells decrease the stability and translation rate of most mRNAs under stress, whereas mRNAs needed for stress survival are stabilized and highly translated ⁴⁶⁻⁴⁹. Long-term survival under chronic stress is characterized by transcriptional modification as the major regulatory mechanism^{50,51}.

The post-transcriptional stress response program also entails the formation of two evolutionarily conserved cytoplasmic mRNP granules, SGs and PBs. These stress-induced membraneless granules allow cells to adapt to diverse environmental and cellular cues. In contrast to SGs, PBs are present constitutively, however; under stress, the number of PBs increases^{28,52}. SGs only form under conditions of severe stress such as temperature changes, viral infection, oxidative and osmotic stress, irradiation and starvation⁵³⁻⁵⁵. The induction of SGs is triggered by the stress-induced inhibition of translation and have been observed in isolated cells and in the context of the entire organism⁵⁶⁻ ⁵⁹. Moreover, SGs are dynamic structures that have been shown to undergo fusion and fission events, in addition to exchanging components with the cytoplasm²⁹. The structure of SGs has been proposed to include two diffusely distinct compartments, a stable core substructure surrounded by a more dynamic shell^{60,61}. Subsequently, SG assembly has been proposed to be nucleated by the stable core followed by the assembly of the shell^{62,63}. The full function of SGs and assembly mechanism still remain unclear, however; distinct modes of mechanisms have been assigned to SGs⁶⁴.

SGs range in size from 100 to 2000 nm and contain a high local concentration of proteins and mRNA, of which most encode housekeeping proteins⁶⁵. The composition of SGs varies based on the stress situation but usually include

translationally arrested mRNAs, translation initiation factors, RBPs and small ribosomal units^{56,66}. It has been hypothesized that the close contact, within the confined space of SGs, enables an increased efficiency of certain reaction kinetics, for instance in promoting interactions between translation factors and mRNA to enhance the formation of translation initiation complexes upon stress relief²⁸. Accordingly, during stress, SGs temporarily store and protect non-translating mRNA and proteins from autophagy and proteasomal degradation, thereby allowing a fast restart of translation when stress subsides⁶⁴. In addition, SGs have been implicated as modifiers of signal transduction under stress, since specific signaling factors have been identified to be sequestered in SGs, such as members of the TORC1 signaling complex⁶⁷. Sequestration into SGs contain many translational repressors, formation of SGs is not required for translation inhibition during stress^{69,70,71}.

Under normal conditions, the formation of SGs is a dynamic and reversible process needed for increased survival during stress responses⁷²⁻⁷⁴. However, prolonged stress or disease-linked mutations in proteins known to associate with SGs have been identified to alter normal SG dynamics. Accordingly, SGs are associated with a number of human diseases, including cancers, viral infections and neurodegenerative disorders, such as amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) and spinocerebellar ataxia type 2⁷⁵⁻⁷⁷.

STRESS GRANULE ASSSEMBLY

As previously stated, SGs are formed upon stress-induced inhibition of translation⁵⁶⁻⁵⁹. Inhibition of translation is often induced through phosphorylation of elongation initiation factor 2 alpha (eIF2 α), by one or more kinases^{56,78}. Subsequently, this results in polysome disassembly and release of translation initiation factors, ribosomal subunits and RBP-coated mRNAs. Released polysome components accumulate in the cytoplasm and are further sequestered into SGs where they will be kept silent and protected from degradation until the stress subsides^{72,78}. Disassembly of polysomes has

therefore been suggested to be the universal trigger of SG formation. Inhibition of translation has been shown to be mediated through various routes, such as previously mentioned phosphorylation of eIF2 α , inhibition of TOR or interference with the eIF4F complex⁷⁹. Formation of SGs can therefore be either dependent or independent of the initiation factor eIF2 α ^{56,58}. Accordingly, observations of eIF2 α -independent SG formation have been reported in both yeast and mammalian cells⁸⁰⁻⁸³.

Moreover, the signaling pathways needed for SG formation can vary based on the type of stress, where specific regulators might be crucial under certain stress conditions, but not others⁸³. In accordance, the composition of SGs, and exchange dynamics of individual SG components, differ depending on the type of stressor⁸⁴. The protein composition of SGs can also vary depending on which step of the mRNA translational cycle stalling occurs³¹. Accordingly, the importance of non-translating mRNAs has been linked to the formation of SGs, where trapping mRNAs in polysomes results in failed SG formation⁷³. Furthermore, the local RNA concentration has been reported to influence SG formation^{85,86}.

Many SG-associated proteins contain IDRs or prion-like domains (PLDs), and some have been linked to stress granule LLPS, such as the PLD of human TIA-1 protein, which has been reported to promote SG formation⁸⁷. Specific characteristics of an IDR is the lack of a defined 3D structure, in addition to containing low diversity repeated sequences that contribute to multivalent intermolecular interactions. Many proteins with IDRs have thus been shown to phase separate on their own *in vitro*^{15,88}. In accordance, RBPs with IDRs have been implicated in the formation of various RNP granules, where e.g. disruption of a key protein's IDR could lead to decreased LLPS and disrupted granule formation^{89,90}.

Only a fraction of SG-associated proteins is believed to be necessary in the induction and maintenance of SGs. Key proteins that are essential in driving SG formation are usually referred to as "scaffold proteins"⁹¹. Examples of such key RBP components of SGs have been identified in yeast and mammalian

models, e.g. PolyA-binding protein (PABP), RasGAPSH3-binding protein (G3BP), Lsm7 (Sm-like protein 7) and T-cell intracellular antigen-1 (TIA-1)^{13,56,66}. Many key SG components are known to be substrates for PTMs. Subsequently, PTMs have been reported to play a role in SG regulation, where various modifications have been shown to influence SG assembly, such as e.g. demethylation of G3BP and phosphorylation of eIF2 $\alpha^{92,93}$. Accordingly, studies have shown that a specific deubiquitinase enzyme, Ubp3 (yeast) / USP10 (human), is needed for efficient assembly of SGs^{94,95}. Further identification of different components in the SG interactome is ongoing with many additional SG-related proteins being identified continuously^{13,31}.

STRESS GRANULE DISASSEMBLY

The process of assembly and disassembly of SGs is in equilibrium with polysomes, steered by the presence of stress⁴¹. The assembly of SGs has been far more extensively studied than the disassembly process³¹. However, studies have identified that distinct subsets of proteins associate with SGs during the disassembly phase, indicating that disassembly is not a mere passive dissolution of SG components, but a highly regulated process⁹⁶. Upon stress relief, SGs can dissolve at different rates depending on the stress, e.g. within minutes after return to normal temperature after cold stress, and up to hours after heat shock^{53,97}. Disassembly of SGs enables recycling of SG components, which would otherwise have had to be synthesized *de novo*, thereby allowing for a more energy efficient process⁹⁸. Moreover, the disassembly of SGs is important for protein homeostasis and viability in cells, which is further highlighted by the reported consequences of impaired SG clearance resulting in aberrant SGs and protein aggregates, implicated in neurodegenerative disease^{76,99}.

It has been hypothesized that the loss of some highly multivalent components could lead to a subsequent disassembly of SGs, as a result of decreased multivalency. Accordingly, a stepwise disassembly model has been proposed, involving the titration of stalled mRNAs out of SGs, resulting in structural instability of the protein assemblies and subsequent disassembly of visible SGs¹⁰⁰. Additionally, post-translational modifications of certain essential SG node proteins have been linked to the disassembly of SGs^{101,102}. For instance, during heat shock, ubiquitination is not needed for SG assembly but instead aids in SG disassembly, where loss of ubiquitination results in delayed disassembly¹⁰³. Lastly, chaperones have been proposed to function as SG regulators, e.g. by preventing irreversible aggregation of aberrant proteins within SGs, thereby ensuring continuous SG fluidity and eventual disassembly^{104,105}.

As mentioned before, many RBPs contain IDRs or low complexity domains (LC) which allow for multiple interactions and a flexibility in folding. These characteristics enable the formation of dense protein-protein or protein-RNA networks^{64,106}. However, this conformational flexibility also entails a proneness to aggregation, i.e. a transition into a more solid-like state is possible and could further function as a seeding mechanism to incorporate other proteins that are aggregation-prone^{8,107}. Accordingly, mutations in the PLD of RBPs has been linked to increased aggregation. Furthermore, these aggregated proteins could lead to the aberrant persistence of SGs upon stress removal, leading to other cellular pathological changes^{108,109}. These kind of changes in LLPS behavior have been linked to, in addition to IDR-mutations, high protein concentration and changes in temperature and pH^{8,110}. In accordance, accumulating findings suggest that LLPS-driven aberrant SG assembly is associated with e.g. cancer, virus infections and neurodegenerative disease^{8,76,111}.

PROCESSING BODIES

mRNA turnover is a vital cellular function in regulating gene expression. The process of mRNA degradation is initiated by deadenylation of the 3'-polyadenosine (polyA) tail, predominantly performed by the deadenylases in the Ccr4-Not complex. Deadenylation is primarily followed by decapping, carried out by Dcp1 and Dcp2 decapping enzymes, a process regulated by

decapping co-activators such as the Lsm1-7/Pat1 complex. The decapped mRNA is then further 5'-to-3' degraded by the exonuclease Xrn1¹¹². Non-translating mRNAs together with the mRNA decay machinery and other translation repressors accumulate into conserved cytoplasmic mRNP granules, called processing bodies (PBs), under both normal and stressed conditions¹¹³⁻¹¹⁵. In other words, PBs are present constitutively but drastically increase in number upon stress. PBs have been linked to various types of mRNA regulation, including mRNA decapping in regular mRNA decay, nonsense-mediated mRNA decay, AU-rich element-mediated mRNA decay, microRNA-mediated translational repression, general translation repression and mRNA storage^{113,116}.

Efficient mRNA degradation is correlated with the formation of PBs but macroscopically observable PBs are not necessarily required for mRNA degradation to occur^{114,117}. Moreover, mRNAs stored in the large PBs visible under yeast stationary phase recycle back into translating polysomes when growth resumes, indicating mRNAs residing in PBs can re-enter the translational machinery¹¹⁸. It has therefore been proposed that PBs, in addition to hosting the mRNA decay machinery, also function as storage sites for translationally repressed mRNAs and inactive mRNA decay enzymes¹¹³.

As mentioned before, SGs are associated with mRNA sorting and storage during stress. From SGs, mRNAs can be further routed to either reinitiation or degradation¹¹⁹. Accordingly, SGs and PBs, being sites of mRNA degradation, are spatially and functionally linked¹²⁰. Even though SGs and PBs share and exchange several protein and RNA components, they are distinct and independent cytoplasmic structures^{72,73}. Just like SGs, PBs are dynamic liquid-like structures that constantly exchange mRNAs with the surrounding cytosol and polysomes¹¹⁹. Accordingly, drugs that stabilize polysomes lead to a disassembly of both SGs and PBs, suggesting both these structures require non-translating mRNA for their persistence⁷⁸. Multiple PB-associated proteins have been shown to undergo LLPS in vitro, such as Dcp2, Edc3 and Lsm4 have been shown to be especially important for PB maintenance¹²¹⁻¹²³. The

importance of these LLPS-associated domains further highlights the likely role of phase separation in PB formation¹²².

It has been hypothesized that the formation of SGs is dependent on a preceding formation of PBs²⁸. For instance, mutations affecting PB formation often also result in SG deficiencies, whereas disrupted SGs do not necessarily affect PB formation²⁸. Furthermore, upon stress, PB formation increases before SGs start to appear, often appearing close to or overlapping with PBs. However, studies in yeast have shown that SGs and PBs are regulated by different signaling pathways^{13,124}. In accordance, individual SGs have been observed to form independently of pre-existing PBs¹²⁵. Furthermore, knockdown of specific mRNAs in mammalian cells lead to suppressed PB formation without affecting SGs⁷¹. Lastly, SG-associated proteins have been shown to phase separate *in vitro* without the addition of PB components^{13,126}.

LSM1-7 COMPLEX

The conserved Lsm1-7 (Sm-like proteins) complex resides in the cytoplasm where it is involved in regulation of decapping, with the interacting partner Pat1. The Lsm components form a hetero-heptameric ring^{127,128} structure that constitutes the assembled complex (Figure 2). The Lsm1-7/Pat1 complex has also been shown to protect mRNA 3'-ends from premature trimming¹²⁹. The Lsm1-7/Pat1 complex selectively binds at the 3'-end of deadenylated mRNAs, with preferential binding of oligoadenylated RNAs over polyadenylated RNAs^{130,131}. Pat1 has been shown to stabilize the binding specificity¹³². Lsm1 is also known to regulate the specific RNA binding properties of the complex¹³³. Loss of function of any of the complex subunits results in stabilization of mRNAs *in vivo* due to impaired 5' to 3' mRNA decay¹²⁹. Moreover, the Lsm1-7 complex shares components with another complex, Lsm2-8 which resides in the nucleus. The Lsm2-8 complex is involved in pre-mRNA splicing and processing of various nuclear RNAs as well as nuclear

mRNA decay¹³⁴. Both complexes have been shown to form the ring-structure spontaneously in the absence of RNA¹²⁸.

The Lsm1-7/Pat1complex is heavily concentrated in PBs and shown to be required for efficient decapping during mRNA degradation¹³⁴. Accordingly, the Lsm1-7/Pat1 complex components are usually considered part of the conserved core of proteins found in PBs. Accordingly, deletion of Pat1 results in reduced number of PBs¹²². Pat1 is a multifunctional protein that binds decapping-related proteins, such as Dcp1-Dcp2 and Dhh1, to activate decapping¹³⁵. Pat1 has also been shown to interact with Xrn1 and the Ccr4-Not complex, members of the mRNA decay machinery¹³⁶. Loss of Pat1 or Lsm1 leads to an accumulation of deadenylated and capped transcripts, indicating disturbed decapping process¹³⁷. It has been proposed that the efficiency of recruitment of the Lsm1-7/Pat1 complex onto an mRNA could be the key determinant of which mode of decay (5' to 3' or 3' to 5') the mRNA goes through. I.e. fast association of the Lsm1-7/Pat1 complex with an oligoadenylated mRNA tail would probably lead to decapping and mRNA degradation in 5' to 3', whereas inefficient binding to the complex could result in complete deadenylation and subsequent targeting to the exosome for 3' to 5' decay¹³⁸.



Figure 2. The heptameric ring structure of the Lsm1-7 complex. Lsm1 displays a C-terminal extension into the central channel of the complex. The interacting partner Pat1 interacts with Lsm2 and Lsm3. Adapted from Sharif and Conti, 2013. Created with Biorender.com.

CCR4-NOT COMPLEX

The Ccr4–Not (carbon catabolite repression 4 (Ccr4)-negative on TATA-less (Not)) complex is a highly conserved multifunctional assembly of proteins. The complex is heavily implicated in the rate of protein synthesis. It has been shown that the complex is involved, to different extents, in all steps controlling protein synthesis rate, including ribosomal protein and RNA synthesis, mRNA transcription as well as degradation, leading to both negative and positive regulation of global gene expression¹³⁹⁻¹⁴¹. Additional functions linked to the complex include regulation control, cell cycle regulation, as well as ubiquitin-protein transferase activity¹⁴²⁻¹⁴⁴. The role of the complex in mRNA decay has been extensively researched. Subsequently, the Ccr4-Not complex has been found to be involved in different types of mRNA decay (NMD), targeted mRNA decay and deadenylation-independent decapping¹⁴⁰.

The Ccr4-Not complex (Figure 3) is a large L-shaped modular assembly of proteins (1.9 MDa in yeast) with nine core subunits in yeast; Ccr4, Caf proteins Caf1/Caf40/Caf130 (Ccr4 associated factor) and Not proteins Not1/Not2/Not3/Not4/Not5¹⁴⁵. In humans, the complex is composed of the human orthologues CNOT1-CNOT9, in addition to three other subunits CNOT10, Tab182 (Tankyrase 1-binding protein1, TNKS1BP1) and C2ORF29 (CNOT11), which have not been identified in yeast^{146,147}. Moreover, the human CNOT3 is orthologous to two yeast subunits, Not3 and Not5¹⁴⁸.

Not1 is the largest subunit (>200 kD) and functions as a scaffold for the others¹⁴⁰. Studies have identified distinct submodules to be organized onto the Not1 backbone, Ccr4 with Caf1, Caf40, Caf130, and Not2-Not5¹⁴⁵. In yeast, two deadenylase components are present in the complex, Ccr4 and Caf1. In the human complex, four deadenylase subunits are present, forming various heterodimers; CNOT7/CNOT6, CNOT7/CNOT6L, CNOT8/CNOT6, and CNOT8/CNOT6L. Therefore, either CNOT7 or CNOT8 are incorporated into the complex, perhaps through competition for the same CNOT1 binding site¹⁴⁹.

Lastly, CNOT4 is not as stably associated with the complex in mammalian cells, as Not4 is in yeast¹⁵⁰.

The Ccr4-Not complex associates with PBs in the cytoplasm and is considered to be part of the conserved core^{113,151}. The localization of Ccr4-Not components to PBs is limited to stressed conditions but not unstressed cells when decay is ongoing^{40,140}. It has therefore been proposed that the localization of the Ccr4-Not complex to PBs might initiate the degradation of mRNAs to avoid deprioritized or damaged mRNAs from re-entering translating polysomes, during stress conditions¹⁵².



Figure 3. The Ccr4-Not complex. The expected positions of the core subunits on the Not1 scaffold. Adapted from Collart, 2016. Created with Biorender.com.

FUNCTIONS OF INDIVIDUAL COMPONENTS

In PBs, the Ccr4-Not complex partakes in mRNA decay through the deadenylase functions of the two deadenylase components, Ccr4 and Caf1¹¹³. The Ccr4-Not complex together with the deadenylases Pan2 and Pan3 function as the dominant deadenylase complexes, conserved from yeast to human^{153,154}. Ccr4 and Caf1 are regarded as the main deadenylase complex due to the severe effects on deadenylation upon their depletion^{153,155}. Studies show that Caf1 (CNOT7/8) binds to Not1 (CNOT1), thereby allowing full access of RNAs to the active site on Caf1¹⁵⁶. Subsequently, Ccr4 (CNOT6/6L) binds to Caf1, not to Not1, through its leucine rich repeat (LRR) domain^{156,157}.

In yeast, Ccr4 is considered to be the major mRNA deadenylase in the Ccr4-Not complex, not Cafl^{145,153}. Degradation of mRNA is initiated by trimming of selectively long poly(A)-tails to a length of approximately 110 nt by the Pan2/3 deadenylase dimer, after which Ccr4-Not complex takes over and completes deadenylation¹⁵⁸. After the tails are shortened to an oligo(a) length of approximately 10-15 residues, the mRNA is further subjected to decapping¹²⁹. It has been shown that Ccr4 and Caf1 play distinct deadenylation roles. Ccr4 is activated by Pab1 to shorten Pab1-protected sequences, whereas Caf1 gets blocked by Pab1 and thus only degrades naked poly(A) sequences. Accordingly, it has been established that Ccr4 can trim all mRNAs, thereby acting as a general deadenylase, whereas Caf1 is more specialized and deadenylates mRNA with reduced translation elongation and Pab1 binding¹⁵⁹. Lastly, Ccr4 activity has been linked to cell cycle progression regulation¹⁴⁴.

Since Not1/CNOT1 functions as the complex scaffold, depletion of Not1/CNOT1 has adverse effects on the stability of the whole complex and its functions. No distinct enzymatic activity has been linked to Not1/CNOT1 but its scaffolding function is of great importance for the deadenylase activity of the complex even though CNOT6/6L and CNOT7/8 components remain intact. Accordingly, CNOT1 depletion also leads to degradation of other complex subunits, such as CNOT2, CNOT6L, CNOT7 and CNOT9¹⁶⁰. Moreover, through interactions with specific RBPs, CNOT1 mediates the recruitment of

CNOT6/6L and CNOT7/8 to the selected mRNA thereby triggering degradation of target mRNAs 140 .

The Not submodule (Not2-Not5) of the Ccr4-Not complex consists of a diverse set of proteins with no known enzymatic activity (except for Not4). Not much is therefore known about this submodule but it has been suggested it provides complex stability, since deletion of some of these components results in destabilization of the other complex subunits¹⁴⁵. Accordingly, it has been shown that depletion of CNOT2 impacts the deadenylase activity of the complex¹⁶¹. The Ccr4-Not complex physically associates with ribosomes in yeast, and this association is enabled by Not5 recruitment to the ribosomal E-site¹⁶². Moreover, the interaction between the complex and ribosomes further requires specific ubiquitylation of ribosomal subunits by Not4. Loss of Not5, or this specific ubiquitylation by Not4, results in dysregulation of mRNA half-life and impairment of decapping¹⁶². Accordingly, deadenlyation-independent decapping of certain mRNAs is dependent on Not2, Not4, and Not5 in yeast¹⁶³.

Not4 constitutes the second major enzymatic activity of the Ccr4-Not complex, i.e. E3 ligase-mediated ubiquitylation¹⁴⁵. In accordance with its E3 ligase activity, Not4 is part of the ubiquitin(ub)-proteasome pathway (UPP) involved in cellular protein turnover. Accordingly, Not4 has been shown to associate with proteasomes, and even aid in the correct assembly of the proteasome¹⁶⁴. Loss of Not4 results in accumulation of polyubiquitylated, misfolded and aggregated proteins and lower levels of free ubiquitin, a phenotype consistent with a defect in proteasome function¹⁶⁴.

Caf130 is a yeast specific component, whereas Caf40 is conserved. The mammalian ortholog of Caf40, CNOT9, has been linked to gene expression regulation through binding to transcription factors and interaction with miRNA processing cascades¹⁶⁵. However, the functions of both Caf40 and Caf130 remain poorly understood. Furthermore, the mammalian specific complex components CNOT10, CNOT11 and Tab182 (TNKS1BP1) do not appear to have any enzymatic activity¹⁴⁷. However, the presence of CNOT10 and CNOT11 have been shown to promote deadenylation by stabilizing the RNA

substrate¹⁶⁶. Tab182 contributes to radiation-induced DNA damage repair¹⁴⁰. In addition to these integral complex components, a number of proteins have been found to associate with the complex for routine functions¹⁴⁰. The results of these interactions have reported to be either activation or repression of the deadenylase activity of the complex, as well as regulatory in mRNA interaction¹⁴⁰.

CELL CYCLE REGULATION

In addition to the functions already mentioned, the Ccr4-Not complex has further been identified to greatly affect cell cycle progression in both mammalian and yeast cells¹⁶⁷. In yeast, cell cycle progression is primarily controlled at the G1 to S phase transition¹⁶⁸. Furthermore, for cell cycle progression past this transition point, yeast cells must attain a minimum cell size¹⁶⁹. When cells approach the critical cell size requirement, cell cycle proteins Bck2 and Cln3 (cyclin) activate the transcription of the downstream G1-phase cyclins CLN1 and CLN2, thereby initiating cell cycle progression^{170,171}. To promote CLN1/2 transcription, Cln3 together with Cdc28 phosphorylates Whi5, another cell cycle regulator known to suppresses G1phase cyclin expression, thereby enabling CLN1/2 transcription¹⁷². Overexpression of CLN3 or BCK2 initiates premature CLN1 and CLN2 transcription resulting in cell cycle progression^{170,171}. Moreover, deletion of WH15, results in premature CLN1/2 expression and cell cycle progression^{172,173}. Furthermore, deletion of *CLN3* or *BCK2* results in delayed *CLN1/2* expression and cell cycle delay^{170,171,174}.

It has been shown that Ccr4 works downstream of Bck2, independently of Cln3, assisting in cell cycle coordination by negatively regulating the half-life of *WHI5* mRNAs, thereby contributing to the size-dependent timing of *CLN1/2* expression¹⁴⁴. Accordingly, deletion of *CCR4* results in delayed transcription initiation of *CLN1/2* and enlarged cell size morphology¹⁴⁴. Moreover, overexpression of *WHI5* is lethal in *ccr4* Δ cells and overexpression of *CLN1/2/3* or deletion of *WHI5* reduces the cell size of *ccr4* Δ cells. Double

deletion of *CLN3* and *CCR4* is lethal, suggesting that Bck2 is dependent upon Cln3 to inhibit Whi5 in the absence of Ccr4¹⁴⁴. Further support for the involvement of the Ccr4-Not complex in cell cycle regulation is found in mammalian cancer cell studies where human *CNOT6/L* were identified to be dysregulated, further knockdown could significantly inhibit cell proliferation and tumorigenicity. Depletion of *CNOT6/L* resulted in a subsequent G0/G1 cell cycle phase arrest¹⁷⁵. Accordingly, depletion of CNOT6 and CNOT6L in mammalian cells leads to reduced cell proliferation, with more cells being in G1 phase^{176,177}. Lastly, loss of CNOT6L has been shown to induce meiotic cell cycle arrest during mouse oocyte maturation¹⁷⁸.

PHASE SEPARATION IN NEURODEGENERATIVE DISORDERS

Under normal conditions, LLPS is an essential and vital process in a wide range of cellular processes and systems. However, accumulating evidence¹⁷⁹ is linking LLPS-capable proteins to pathological aggregates found in various disease, indicating that pathological aggregates could originate from an aberrant phase separation (Figure 4). Indeed, aberrant protein aggregation is a hallmark of various neurodegenerative disorders, such as amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS), Parkinson's disease (PD), Alzheimer's disease (AD) and frontotemporal lobar degeneration (FTLD)¹⁸⁰. Proteins implicated in these disorders, such as TAR DNA-binding protein 43 (TDP-43) and fused in sarcoma (FUS), have been shown to be able to transition from a reversible dynamic LLPS into an irreversible aggregated state^{22,179}. PTMs and diseaseassociated mutations have been shown to regulate this shift¹. For many of these proteins, LLPS is mainly regulated by their IDR sequences¹, where diseaselinked mutations have been shown to affect condensate formation and development. The full impact of disease-linked mutations and PTMs on phase separation is not yet fully understood. However, it has been suggested that mutations that lead to a lowering of the saturation concentration, i.e. the threshold protein concentration needed for LLPS to occur, could force the

protein into a condensed state, over time favoring the transition from a reversible dynamic LLPS to an irreversible solid and aggregated state. Moreover, mutations and altered PTMs could also result in modified binding to cellular LLPS regulators^{1,181}.



Figure 4. Aberrant phase separation. Factors such as PTMs and disease-associated mutations can trigger a transition from a reversible dynamic LLPS into an irreversible aggregated state. Created with Biorender.com.

YEAST MODELS OF NEURODEGENERATION

Saccharomyces cerevisiae has been extensively used to study the mechanisms behind neurodegenerative disease phenotypes, such as the impact of disease-linked protein misfolding and cytotoxic aggregation¹⁸². Yeast as a model organism has many advantages compared to more complex higher organisms, such as a fully sequenced genome, well-characterized phenotypes, easy genetic manipulation, as well as simplified culturing and handling. Moreover, pathways coupled to protein folding pathology are conserved in yeast, enabling the study of these in a more accessible model organism, underscored by the existence of a high number (approx. 20%) of orthologous gene families linked to human diseases^{183,184}.

Of the many experimental advantages provided by the yeast system, the main benefit is the ability to perform genome-wide high-throughput screening techniques^{185,186}. These genetic modifier screens have contributed to the pioneering role yeast has played in uncovering protein deletion and over-expression phenotypes, protein localization, as well as toxicity modifiers, revealing pathways involved in human neurodegenerative disease¹⁸⁷⁻¹⁸⁹. Yeast high-throughput screenings are a convenient first approach, especially to uncover new mechanisms related to pathogenesis and pathophysiology, succeeded by further validation in higher organism models and potential therapeutic target discovery¹⁸³.

Yeast models of Huntington disease (HD), Parkinson's disease (PD) and Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) have uncovered mechanisms behind toxic protein aggregation linked to pathogenesis, involving e.g. mutated huntingtin (HD), α-synuclein (PD), TDP-43 and FUS (ALS)¹⁸³. α-synuclein was one of the first neurodegenerative-linked proteins to be characterized in a yeast model where it was identified to form cytotoxic inclusions in a dose-dependent manner¹⁸⁷. Correspondingly, longer polyglutamine stretches in huntingtin has been validated to increase the protein tendency to form insoluble inclusions in yeast, whereas overexpression of wild-type TDP-43 and FUS leads to cytoplasmic mislocalization and aggregation, in accordance with their disease pathology^{188,190}. Moreover, proteins involved in lipid metabolism, vacuolar degradation and vesicular transport have been identified as potential enhancers or suppressors of α -synuclein toxicity¹⁹¹. Furthermore, yeast screenings have identified many human RNA-binding proteins (RBPs) that aggregate in a toxic manner in yeast, including ALS-linked proteins FUS and TDP-43, highlighting a shared feature among most of these proteins, namely an IDR, more specifically a prion-like domain¹⁹². In addition, suppressors and enhancers of FUS and TDP-43 toxicity have been uncovered in yeast deletion and overexpression screens, thereby identifying possible candidate genes with human orthologs^{188,190,193}.

Although *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* is a simple single-celled eukaryote it has proven highly useful in a multitude of neurodegenerative studies, of which

only a fraction is listed here. Studies in yeast contribute to not only uncovering the mechanisms behind pathology, but have also suggested that yeast specific proteins, such as potentiated Hsp104 (heat shock protein 104) disaggregase variants, have the capacity to reverse the toxic phenotype linked to highly aggregation-prone human disease proteins, such as FUS, indicating that yeast proteins may eventually be used as a therapeutic agent in human neurodegenerative disease^{194,195}. Indeed, the ability to actively reverse and control protein misfolding is a vital attribute when designing new therapeutic solutions for proteinopathies.

AMYOTROPHIC LATERAL SCLEROSIS

Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS), also called Lou Gehrig's disease, is a neurodegenerative disease characterized by preferential degeneration of upper and lower motor neurons leading to rapidly progressing paralysis and eventual death by respiratory failure, typically 3-5 years after disease onset^{196,197}. ALS is the most common motor neuron disease with a global incidence of 2.5 cases per 100,000 individuals each year, and an average age of onset of 60 years¹⁹⁸. As of today, there are no cures and available treatments do not effectively slow disease progression. Most cases of ALS are sporadic with no apparent genetic link (sALS), whereas inherited ALS (familial, fALS) accounts for approximately 10% of all reported ALS cases. However, given the similarities in disease display and pathology of sporadic and familial ALS, the study of genes implicated in fALS could uncover mechanisms underlying both fALS and the more common sporadic form¹⁹⁹.

The degeneration of cells in ALS patients coincides with the accumulation of misfolded protein inclusions in motor neurons and oligodendrocytes, as well as neuroinflammation²⁰⁰. In ALS pathology, more than 20 genes have been linked to disease progression. Among these genes some have been identified as the most common causative genes, such as SOD1 (Cu-Zn superoxide dismutase 1), C9ORF72 (chromosome 9 open reading frame 72), TDP-43 (TAR-DNA-binding protein-43 kDa) and FUS (fused in sarcoma; also known

as TLS, translocated in liposarcoma^{201,202}. SOD1 was first to be linked to fALS and much research has been focused on identifying the cause and results of mutated SOD1 in ALS pathology²⁰³. Eventually, other genes involved in fALS, such as the RNA-binding proteins TDP-43 and FUS, were identified²⁰⁴. Subsequently, mutations in FUS have also been identified in sALS and a subset of FTLD (frontotemporal lobar degeneration) cases^{205,206}.

FUSED IN SARCOMA (FUS)

FUS/TLS was first discovered as part of a chromosomal translocation associated with human myxoid liposarcomas, resulting in gene fusions and production of chimeric oncoproteins, hence the name fused/translocated in liposarcoma²⁰⁷. The FUS gene is located on chromosome 16 and encodes for a 526 amino acid protein ubiquitously expressed in all tissues. Moreover, FUS а DNA/RNA-binding protein (RBP) belonging to the FET is (FUS/EWS/TAF15) protein family²⁰⁸. FUS has different domains (Figure 5) linked to various functions of the protein; the N-terminal prion-like domain (PLD) that is enriched in polar amino acids (glutamine, glycine, serine and tyrosine, QGSY) and contains a glycine-rich region (sometimes referred to as an RGG domain), the conserved RNA-recognition motif (RRM, RNA-binding domain), two arginine-glycine-glycine (RGG)-repeat regions, a C2/C2 zinc finger motif as well as the nonclassical C-terminal nuclear localization signal (NLS)^{209,210}. Together, the zinc finger motif, the RRM region, and the RGG regions contribute to the DNA/RNA-binding ability of FUS^{199,211}.



Figure 5. The different domains of FUS. The N-terminal prion-like domain (PLD) has been underlined. Created with Biorender.com.

FUS is involved in many regulatory functions, such as DNA repair, transcriptional control, RNA splicing and mRNA transport to the cytoplasm^{199,212}. FUS binds to both single stranded DNA and RNA *in vitro*²¹³. Accordingly, several FUS target genes have been identified through chromatin immunoprecipitation combined with transcriptomics²¹⁴. Moreover, it has been shown that FUS binds to nascent pre-mRNAs, as well as components of the spliceosome, thereby regulating pre-mRNA fate, including pre-mRNA (miRNAs) and long noncoding RNA (lncRNAs) biogenesis through its interaction with Drosha²¹⁵. FUS has also been identified in neuronal mRNA transport granules indicating that it plays an active role in mRNA trafficking along axons and dendrites²¹⁶. Many FUS functions involve the binding of RNA, a direct interaction enabled by the RNA-binding domain through hydrogen bonds and ring stacking²¹⁰. RNA binding is further supported by the zinc finger domain and the RGG motifs²¹¹.

In neurons and glial cells, FUS is predominantly localized to the nucleus but have been shown to shuttle between the nucleus and the cytoplasm, e.g. when

being transported to dendritic spines at excitatory post-synapses^{212,217,218}. Moreover, during stress, such as heat shock or oxidative stress, FUS has been shown to exit the nucleus and temporarily assemble into perinuclear SGs and PBs, eventually re-localizing to the nucleus. Accumulation of FUS in SGs is therefore a reversible process in healthy neurons^{219,220}. The C-terminal NLS of FUS is known to be recognized by a nuclear transport receptor called Transportin 1/Karyopherin- β 2, an interaction that results in FUS re-entering the nucleus^{219,221}.

As previously mentioned, FUS is normally localized to the nucleus, but has been shown to form neuronal cytoplasmic inclusions in ALS patients when mutated²²². Aggregation of mutated FUS has been implicated in 7.5% of fALS and <1% of sALS cases, in addition to rare forms of frontotemporal lobar degeneration (FTLD)²²²⁻²²⁴. FTLD is the second most common form of dementia in people under 65, characterized by neuronal cell death in the frontal and temporal cortex²²⁵. ALS patients with mutated FUS display a particularly severe disease progression, where 60% of cases display pathogenesis by the age of 40^{226} .

Even wild-type FUS has been linked to cytotoxic accumulation in some cases of juvenile ALS, basophilic inclusion body disease, Huntington's disease, spinocerebellar ataxia (SCA, type 1, 2, and 3), dentatorubral-pallidoluysian atrophy, in addition to the majority of tau- and TDP-43-negative FTLD cases, as well as a subtype of FUS-FTLD²²⁷⁻²³⁰. Moreover, mutations leading to increased expression of FUS have been identified in ALS patients²³¹. Further support of wild-type FUS being implicated in disease comes from studies in transgenic mice, where overexpression of wild-type human FUS results in ALS-like behavior and degeneration, including spinal cord motor neuron degeneration and progressive hind limb paralysis, followed by death, suggesting that high levels of wild-type human FUS trigger a gain-of-function toxicity¹³¹. Indeed, it has been proposed that the cytoplasmic mislocalization and aggregation of FUS may lead to a loss of normal nuclear protein functions and/or gain of new toxic functions in the cytoplasm^{199,232}.

The increasing number of findings of both wild-type and mutated FUS inclusion formation in disease broaden the spectrum of disorders linked to FUS beyond ALS and FTLD, emphasizing the importance of identifying the mechanisms behind both normal and aberrant FUS functions, thereby uncovering the pathology of FUS proteinopathies.

FUS-ALS

Known *FUS* mutations linked to ALS reside in certain distinct regions of the gene, including the N-terminal PLD, a portion of the glycine-rich region and the C-terminal NLS²⁰⁹. However, most FUS-ALS mutations are clustered in the NLS. Some of these mutations, such as P525L and R521C have been shown to contribute to cytoplasmic FUS mislocalization due to disruption of the transportin-mediated nuclear import of FUS as a result of reduced interaction with the nuclear import receptor Transportin 1^{221,231}. Accordingly, disruption of the FUS/Transportin interaction has been shown to result in nuclear depletion and cytoplasmic accumulation of FUS in mammalian cells^{221,233}. Moreover, ALS disease severity correlates with the extent of mutated FUS redistribution to the cytoplasmic retention of FUS due to a truncated NLS, display early disease onset and severe disease development^{219,233}.

Furthermore, when expressed at high level (hereafter referred to as overexpression) in yeast, both wild-type and mutated FUS has been shown to mislocalize to the cytoplasm forming toxic aggregates largely due to a non-functional NLS^{188,193}. Upon replacement of the non-functional NLS with a, in yeast, recognizable sequence, predominantly nuclear localization of FUS can be seen in addition to a reduction in cytotoxicity, further supporting the role of the NLS in cytoplasmic mislocalization of FUS and toxicity^{188,193}. However, studies in mammalian cells have shown that FUS can enter the nucleus even though missing the C-terminal NLS, indicating that other sequences also enable import of FUS^{188,234}. The importance of a functional nuclear import has thus lead to the hypothesis that impaired nuclear import and subsequent

cellular accumulation of FUS may be necessary, and potentially sufficient, for FUS pathogenesis^{219,233}.

As mentioned before, overexpression of wild-type FUS in yeast results in the formation of cytotoxic FUS inclusions in accordance with ALS pathology^{188,193,235}. This phenotype has been utilized to identify the exact sequence domains needed for FUS aggregation and cytotoxicity in yeast. By employing a set of truncated FUS plasmids it was shown that the RRM domain, PLD and parts of the first RGG domain are required for full cytoplasmic FUS aggregation and toxicity in yeast¹⁸⁸. Further studies in insect cells support the notion that the PLD is needed for the forming of FUS inclusions²². Moreover, *in vitro* studies using purified FUS have shown that FUS is intrinsically aggregation-prone, displaying rapid aggregation in a concentration dependent manner, regulated mainly by the PLD and first RGG domain¹⁸⁸. *In vitro* FUS aggregates form large, tangled and stacked linear polymers, resembling those found in ALS and FTLD patients, with a seemingly non-amyloid nature^{188,236}.

The cytoplasmic aggregation of FUS has been hypothesized to further lead to a toxic protein gain-of-function in the cytoplasm. This hypothesis is supported by a multitude of studies highlighting changes in FUS function upon aggregation in the cytoplasm. For instance, aggregation of mutated FUS has been shown to affect the expression of its target genes through sequestration of these mRNAs within the cytoplasmic FUS aggregates²³⁷. Moreover, mutated FUS displays changed mRNA binding patterns and an increase in unique targeting of an overrepresented group of transcripts²³⁸. Accordingly, by disrupting the RNA binding activity of FUS, FUS-related cytotoxicity was reduced in yeast, indicating that aggregated FUS exerts some of its toxicity through binding to RNA and potential RNA sequestration¹⁸⁸. Moreover, mutant FUS has been shown to suppress protein translation and alter the nonsense-mediated decay (NMD) pathway, leading to hyperactivation of NMD and thereby disruption of NMD autoregulation²³⁹.

Furthermore, studies indicate that aggregation of mutated FUS causes an imbalance in the cytoplasmic RBP homeostasis due to interaction impairment

between FUS and other RBPs. Accordingly, RBPs of the FET family have been shown to buffer the aggregation tendency of FUS under normal circumstances but is suggested to be impaired in disease due to the disrupted RBP homeostasis, resulting in disease exacerbation. Accordingly, studies in iPSC (induced pluripotent stem cells)-derived neurons, with increased cytoplasmic FUS levels, have shown reduced protein levels of the same FET family of RBPs, findings further confirmed in ALS-patient tissue samples, as well as an impaired protein degradation machinery²²⁶.

Another gain-of-function of FUS has been identified in regards to neuronal cell cycle progression and differentiation. Exogenous expression of human wild-type FUS in neural stem progenitor cells results in reduced growth and arrest in cell cycle progression in G1/S phase. Moreover, expression of ALS-linked FUS-P525L displays an abnormal cellular distribution in the cytoplasm and drives cell differentiation towards a glial lineage, thereby reducing the development of neurons, in addition to decreased overall proliferation²⁴⁰. Lastly, FUS is known to interact with SGs in a reversible manner in healthy neurons, however; ALS-linked FUS mutants display increased association with SGs and have been shown to bind and sequester wild-type FUS into SGs^{202,219}. This finding is of special interest since SGs have been proposed to play a role in neurodegeneration as possible precursors of pathological inclusions²⁴¹.

INTERACTION WITH SGS AND PBS

It has been suggested that disease-related association of FUS with stress granules is another step in FUS pathology, where the aberrant interaction of FUS with SGs may impair cellular stress response, ultimately causing disease²⁴¹. In accordance, a co-localization of pathological FUS aggregates with SGs has been seen in yeast, mammalian cell lines, as well as in ALS-patient tissue samples^{219,242}. SGs have a protective function in healthy neurons but mutations in their components or perturbations to their overall function might convert them into overly stable structures²⁴¹. Accordingly, the different

ALS-linked FUS mutations result in varying amount of FUS recruitment into and impact on SGs, where some result in increased number of SGs that persist longer^{243,244}. Upon overexpression in yeast, wild-type and mutated FUS induce both SG and PB formation without the addition of any external stressors¹⁸⁸. Moreover, studies show that overexpressed or endogenous mutant FUS can compete with SGs for their core proteins, such as G3BP1, and RNA species thereby disrupting physiological SGs²⁴⁵. External stresses have been proposed as further drivers of FUS-ALS development, supported by studies showing that FUS aggregation and partitioning into SGs is increased by different stressors^{233,243,246}. Accordingly, mutant-FUS delays SG formation in mammalian cell lines under oxidative stress conditions but upon formation, SGs containing mutant-FUS are bigger, increased in number and more dynamic than those without FUS. Furthermore, deletion of either FUS-RGG domain results in impaired assembly of FUS into SGs, indicating that these domains are needed for the interaction with SGs²⁴⁷.

Interaction between FUS and SGs has been established in disease, but does it connect to FUS toxicity, or is it merely a downstream result of cellular stress associated with degeneration pathology? On that matter, several yeast genome-wide screens have identified components of SGs as potential regulators of FUS toxicity, when overexpressed or deleted. For instance, overexpression of Tif2, Tif3 or Pab1, proteins involved in SG assembly in yeast, was able to reduce FUS toxicity. Another SG component, Pub1, was shown to suppress FUS toxicity when deleted¹⁸⁸.

In addition to being linked to SGs, FUS has been shown to be associated with PBs as well, in both healthy neurons and in a disease context. Wild-type expression of FUS in yeast induces PB formation¹⁸⁸. In mammalian cell studies, wild-type FUS has been shown to clearly localize with SGs under stress, but only moderately with PBs²⁴⁸. However, pull-downs of mutated FUS in mammalian studies reveal interactions with PB-associated proteins²⁴⁹. Moreover, overexpression of SBP1, a component of PBs, has been shown to reduce FUS toxicity in yeast¹⁹³. Therefore, SGs and PBs, or individual components of these RNP granules, might play an important role in mediating

FUS toxicity, in addition to being markers of FUS-positive inclusions in disease.

PHASE SEPARATION OF FUS

FUS is able to undergo rapid and reversible phase separation between dispersed, liquid droplet and hydrogel states^{22,250,251}. In vitro studies using purified FUS have shown that FUS is intrinsically aggregation-prone, displaying rapid aggregation in a concentration dependent manner, regulated mainly by the PLD and first RGG domain¹⁸⁸. Accordingly, further studies in insect cells demonstrate the importance of the PLD in the formation of FUS liquid droplets, as well as in the formation of aggregates in yeast^{22,188}. Over time, in vitro FUS droplets become more viscoelastic eventually adopting a more solid-like state and ceasing to exchange molecules with the surroundings, a process referred to as maturation^{15,22,37}. It is still unclear what the exact material properties of these in vitro hardened states are, but they are often referred to as hydrogels^{250,252}. FUS hydrogels can further transition into solidlike fibrillar aggregates composed of large, tangled and stacked linear polymers resembling those found in ALS and FTLD patients, similarities further supported by their seemingly non-amyloid nature^{15,22,188,228,236}. Furthermore, in vitro liquid droplets of ALS-FUS with mutations in the PLD convert faster into an aggregated fibrous state^{15,22}. The importance of PLDs in LLPS is further underscored by it being a shared feature among multiple proteins that form aggregates in disease^{235,253}.

PLDs have distinct residue compositions, being enriched in polar amino acids and aromatic residues²⁵⁴. It has been proposed that PLDs drive FUS droplet and hydrogel phase separation mainly through the formation of beta-sheeted structural motifs stabilized by hydrogen bonding^{250,255}. FUS demixing is further mediated by cation- π interactions between positively charged arginine residues in the C-terminal RGG domain and tyrosines in the PLD¹⁸¹. Lastly, both phosphorylation and methylation of FUS has been shown to influence FUS LLPS^{181,256}.

Arginine hypomethylation has been identified to lead to increased FUS phase separation, of which relevance is underscored by the significant hypomethylation of FUS in FUS-FTLD patients¹⁸¹. Moreover, the nuclear import receptor Transportin-1 acts as a chaperone of FUS, reducing phase separation and gelation of both methylated and hypomethylated FUS through its interaction with the NLS and PLD of FUS^{181,257}. Transportin-1 has also been shown to reduce the association of FUS with SGs²⁵⁸. Disease-linked mutations in FUS have been identified to prevent the interaction between FUS and Transportin-1, thereby indirectly suppressing the physiological LLPS behavior of FUS and promoting aggregation^{181,258}. Moreover, FUS interaction with other RBPs has been shown to prevent FUS from undergoing an aberrant liquid-tosolid transition, a regulation that is probably lost upon disease-associated mislocalization of FUS to the cytoplasm, further leading to cytotoxic FUS aggregation²²⁶. Lastly, Pub1 (TIAL-1 in human) has been identified as a deletion suppressor of FUS in yeast¹⁸⁸. Pub1 also contains a PLD which has been shown to template the aggregation of the polyQ protein huntingtin, suggesting that FUS aggregation and cytoplasmic sequestration might be templated in a similar manner by Pub1^{227,259}. It has therefore been proposed that aberrant FUS LLPS is a result of hampered Transportin-1 binding followed by impaired nuclear transport and altered protein/RNA interactions in the cytoplasm^{193,233,258}.

The formation of *in vitro* FUS hydrogels has been shown to be regulated by protein concentration. At physiological concentrations, FUS demixes into dynamic liquid droplets, but converts into hydrogels when the concentration is increased^{15,22}. However, FUS protein concentrations, similar to the physiological nuclear FUS concentrations, give rise to FUS LLPS *in vitro*, but *in vivo* there are barely any detectable condensates. Even though the protein saturation concentration is obtained, something else prevents LLPS from happening²⁶⁰.

Accordingly, RNA has been proposed to act as a regulator of FUS phase separation, highlighted by the prevalence of an RNA-binding domain in many disease-linked proteins. Indeed, small amounts of RNA has been shown to

increase FUS LLPS *in vitro*, whereas high RNA to protein ratios prevent FUS phase separation²⁶⁰. It has been further hypothesized that in environments with high RNA concentration, such as the nucleus or SGs, specific highly structured RNAs could act as scaffolds to enable FUS phase separation despite high RNA/protein ratio. Lastly, addition of RNA to *in vitro* FUS droplets has been shown to keep the droplets in a soluble state, preventing fibril formation²⁶⁰. RNA certainly appears to be an important regulator of FUS LLPS, with the ability to prevent the formation of solid assemblies that can cause disease. However, studies in yeast have shown that when impairing the RNA-binding ability of FUS, through residue substitutions in the RRM domain, FUS toxicity is drastically mitigated without affecting the cytoplasmic aggregation of FUS. This indicates that, in yeast, binding of RNA by FUS is not needed for LLPS and aggregation¹⁸⁸.

The correlation between FUS inclusion formation and toxicity is further complicated by mouse models of juvenile FUS-ALS displaying motor neuron loss without the occurrence of FUS aggregates, and studies in *Drosophila* where neither wild-type FUS nor ALS-linked FUS expression resulted in any cytoplasmic inclusions even though toxicity was observed^{261,262}. Moreover, identified suppressors of FUS toxicity in yeast do not significantly alter the aggregation of FUS, suggesting that these genes act downstream or in parallel to FUS aggregation, in addition to potentially modifying the dynamics or composition of FUS inclusions in a subtle way¹⁸⁸. Nevertheless, a decrease in toxicity often coincides with a decline in aggregation capacity of truncated FUS constructs in yeast^{188,263}.

MAIN FINDINGS

PAPER I

Stress granules (SGs) are membraneless organelles that form in response to stress and are needed for cellular stress management. Liquid-liquid phase separation (LLPS) has been implicated in the formation of these ribonucleoprotein granules. However, the exact regulatory mechanisms behind SG initiation, and the role of phase separation, still remains elusive. In this study, a genome-wide imaging-based screen was performed to identify SG co-localizing proteins under 2-deoxy-D-glucose (2-DG) stress. Further studies into one of the SG-associated proteins, Lsm7, uncovered a mechanism needed for SG assembly.

- The genome-wide imaging-based screen uncovered previously unreported proteins that form foci, co-localizing with SGs (Pab1), under 2-DG stress.
- The highly conserved RNA-binding protein Lsm7 was among the screen candidates and was identified as needed for promoting SG formation.
- The ability to undergo LLPS and form dynamic condensates, a process driven by the intrinsically disordered region and hydrophobic clusters within the Lsm7 sequence, is needed for Lsm7's role in inducing SG formation.
- Lsm7 condensates appear to work as seeding scaffolds, promoting Pab1 demixing and subsequent SG initiation, seemingly mediated by RNA interactions.

In conclusion, Lsm7 was identified as an early phase separation component involved in promoting SG formation, most likely through modulating RNA interactions and/or acting as a seeding scaffold.

PAPER II

In Paper I, we uncovered that the RNA-binding protein Lsm7, displays SG regulatory functions. However, the signaling cascade leading to Lsm7 activation remained unexplored. Reports indicate that certain signaling components, RNA-binding proteins and regulatory proteins function in SG initiation; however, the crosstalk between these remains elusive. Therefore, in this study, we wanted to identify the upstream pathway leading to Lsm7 activation and subsequent SG formation under 2-DG stress. Consequently, two genome-wide imaging-based screens were performed to uncover genes regulating SG formation. Subsequently, the identified candidates led to the uncovering of upstream signaling components that form a possible signal transduction pathway in regulating SG formation.

- TORC1/2 signaling, through Sch9 and Ypk1 was identified as an early step in the pathway.
- Upon 2-DG stress, Sch9 and Ypk1 activation leads to reduced levels of LCB (long-chain base) sphingolipids.
- Reduction in LCBs further results in derepression of the deubiquitinase Ubp3, and subsequent downregulation of the ubiquitin gene UBI4.
- Further, Ubp3 was shown to positively regulate Lsm7 phase separation by suppressing Ubi4, resulting in SG formation.

In conclusion, key components in a SG regulatory pathway, under 2-DG stress, were identified. Characterized by an interplay between Sch9/Ypk1, LCBs, Ubp3, Ubi4 and Lsm7 regulating SG formation.

PAPER III

Mislocalization and cytoplasmic aggregation of the human DNA/RNAbinding protein FUS (fused in sarcoma) is a hallmark of aberrant FUS phase separation behavior, implicated in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) and other neurodegenerative disorders. When overexpressed in yeast, wild-type FUS forms cytotoxic aggregates, reminiscent of the ALS phenotype. We utilized the FUS phenotype presented in yeast to elucidate the cellular effects of toxic FUS aggregation. We performed a genome-wide imaging-based screen to identify proteins, which upon FUS induction, form protein assemblies co-localizing to FUS aggregates. Further studies into one of the screen candidates, Ccr4, uncovered a toxic gain-of-function for FUS.

- The genome-wide imaging-based screen uncovered proteins that form assemblies, co-localizing with FUS aggregates. PB and SG-associated proteins, involved in regulation of mRNA metabolism, were enriched among the screen candidates.
- The Ccr4-Not complex subunit, Ccr4, physically interacts with FUS, forming co-localizing assemblies upon cytoplasmic FUS aggregation. A process which is driven by the N-terminal domain of FUS and can be enhanced by ALS-associated mutations in FUS.
- Prolonged FUS exposure leads to Ccr4 protein downregulation and assembly transition into a less dynamic state, further hampering Ccr4-mediated cell cycle regulation.
- Subsequently resulting in delay of cell cycle progression, contributing to the FUS toxicity phenotype.

In conclusion, induction of FUS results in cell cycle delay from G1 to S phase, a process which can be due to Ccr4 sequestration and Ccr4 protein downregulation, and subsequent loss of Ccr4 cell cycle regulatory functions, resulting in contribution to the FUS toxicity phenotype.

CONCLUDING REMARKS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

Already at the end of the 19th century it was hypothesized that the cytoplasm of cells behaves like a mixture of various chemically suspended drops. However, evidence of the vastness and full impact of cellular liquid-liquid phase separation (LLPS) did not emerge until a decade later. In recent years, accumulating reports implicate phase separation in the formation of a wide range of biomolecular condensates involved in a multitude of cellular functions, as well as a potential driver of disease. Being such a young research field, many regulatory pathways and functional implications still remain undescribed.

The work in this thesis presents insights into the molecular mechanisms driving condensate formation needed for physiological cellular functions, such as stress granule formation upon stress, but also highlights implications of aberrant phase separation, including dysregulation of stress granules and cytotoxic aggregation of the human protein FUS (fused in sarcoma). The initial approach in all three papers was a high-content genome-wide screening that could elucidate the underlying pathways involved. Further studies into the identified candidates subsequently led to uncovering novel underlying mechanisms.

In **Paper I-II**, we uncover a regulatory pathway behind stress granule formation (SG) under glucose limiting conditions (2-deoxy-D-glucose). The genome-wide imaging-based screening performed in **Paper I** identified previously unreported proteins that form co-localizing foci with SGs (Pab1). The highly conserved RNA-binding protein Lsm7 was among the screen candidates and its role in SG formation was established to be through the forming of liquid-liquid phase-separated condensates that further triggered Pab1 demixing and subsequent SG initiation. We further hypothesized that the promotion of Pab1 demixing could be due to Lsm7 working as a seeding scaffold or through mediating RNA interactions. An informative future study

would be to describe the probable link between Lsm7, Pab1 and RNA in phase separation and SG formation. We have shown that Lsm7 can rescue Pab1 demixing *in vitro* upon addition of RNA. However, whether inhibition of the RNA-binding domain of Lsm7 would result in a loss of this rescue effect, due to impaired Lsm7-RNA interactions, would give further useful insight into this process. Another pertinent future study would be to investigate the roles of the key components identified in **Paper I-II** in SG formation under a variety of different stress conditions.

In **Paper II**, we looked to uncover the upstream pathway leading to Lsm7 activation and phase separation, resulting in SG formation. In this study two separate genome-wide imaging-based screenings were performed to identify genes that regulate SG formation. An early step in the pathway was found to be governed by Sch9 and Ypk1, downstream effectors of TORC1/2. Upon stress activation of Sch9 and Ypk1, the level of long-chain base (LCB) sphingolipids is reduced which further leads to derepression of the deubiquitinase Ubp3 and downregulation of the ubiquitin gene UBI4. This subsequently results in activation of Lsm7 phase separation and SG formation. The potential existence of other regulatory components in this pathway could be studied by revisiting the screening results and characterizing other candidates and whether they can regulate the key components identified in this paper. It also remains unknown how reduced ubiquitin levels lead to Lsm7 phase separation. Since ubiquitin and polyubiquitin has been reported to influence the LLPS behavior of some SG components it would be pertinent to investigate the role of ubiquitin on Lsm7 phase separation further. A possibility would be to employ the *in vitro* setup described in **Paper I** to look at the effects of added free ubiquitin on Lsm7 phase-separated droplets, and/or define potential ubiquitination/deubiquitination of Lsm7 itself.

In **Paper III**, we focused on establishing the cellular impact of aberrant FUS protein phase separation and subsequent aggregation. A genome-wide imaging-based screening assay was performed and uncovered proteins forming protein assemblies co-localizing with FUS aggregates. The highly conserved deadenylase Ccr4 was identified as a hit and shown to physically interact with

FUS, forming assemblies that transition into a more solid-like state over time. It was also established that prolonged induction of FUS results in Ccr4 protein downregulation. We identified that such sequestration and downregulation most likely contribute to the FUS-induced delay in cell cycle progression from G1 to S phase, and contributing to the FUS toxicity phenotype. Further studies describing the phase separation link between Ccr4 and FUS assembly formation, and the impact of RNA on this, would elucidate the relationship between Ccr4 and FUS even further, and discern whether RNA is involved in the phase separation process. An *in vitro* assay, similar to the one described in **Paper I**, could help to answer this further. Another valuable addition would be to determine the extent of FUS-induced toxicity due to cell cycle delay. Growth assays of overexpressed downstream cell cycle activators could possibly discern this. Lastly, determining any potential loss of other functions of Ccr4, due to the association with FUS, could yield valuable information to decipher the FUS-related toxicity in neurodegenerative disease.

Pertinent future studies related to **Paper I-III** would be to investigate the functions of identified conserved key components in mammalian model systems. This would further deepen the knowledge of phase separation-related mechanism in both health and disease.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Doing a PhD over the past few years has been an adventurous journey. An unforgettable experience that I was lucky to share with some really incredible people who made it possible and memorable.

First of all, I would like to thank my supervisor **Beidong** for giving me this opportunity. While in your group, I have truly grown as a researcher and found a confidence in my own abilities. Qualities that will definitely help me throughout my career. I would also like to thank the rest of the group, both past and current members. **Shan**, we have spent many late nights working in the lab together, and with you being there it didn't seem that tiresome. Thank you for always being so supportive and sweet. **Tomas**, my microscopy guru and go-to-guy for everything that my head can't make sense of. Thank you for always lending a helping hand even though you are busy as well. **Yuan**, thank you for always agreeing to all the extra experiments I throw your way. And for all the chats that make incubations go faster. **Jia**, thank you for always being so friendly and nice to work alongside. Also, thank you to everyone for indulging my need for background music in the lab, I know the Swedish radio broadcasts leave a lot to be desired. Lastly, **Xinxin**, it is always such a joy when you visit the lab. Thank you for all our talks and all your kind words.

I also want to give a big thank you to my co-supervisor **Per** and my examiner **Markus** for checking up on me and supporting me in any way needed. I really appreciate it. **Anne**, you are such a caring person that I admire a lot, a true inspiration to all women in science. Your devotion to the cause of gender equality and strength for pushing onwards is beyond admirable, thank you for everything you have done to change things for the better. **Marc**, **Julie**, **Marie**, **Jeanette**, **Jonas**, **Anders**, **Paula** thank you for all the friendly chats by the coffee machine/lunch room and scientific input, as well as help with teaching. Also, a big thank you to all the administrative and technical staff that have helped me in various ways throughout the years, you make everything run so

smoothly. Thank you, Catarina, Johanna, Bruno, Lars, Peter, Ingrid and Valida.

To all my fellow PhD students. You are a phenomenal bunch and I am going to miss every single one of you. Damn, you have made me laugh throughout the years. To be so lucky to be surrounded by you weirdos every day, I will miss it deeply. Sansan, my Misan, words cannot describe what your friendship means to me and how much your wise words and kindness has helped carry me at times. You deserve all the diamonds in the world, and I am so lucky to have found a friend for life. Hanna, where to even start. All the things I should thank you for would fill a whole thesis by itself. Everything from research input to reminding me to eat. Such a caring and considerate, but also frank person, the best of combinations if you ask me. You are as brilliant as your heart is big. Martin, thank you for holding my hand when the submission button was looking very intimidating. I am truly going to miss gossiping with you, and all our chats about politics. Joana, one could not ask for a better and more chill office roomie. Not once have you complained about the garbage dump that is my side of the office. I am going to miss talking to you every day. Emma, thank you for always managing to drag me along to do fun stuff even though I always initially say no. You are a very kind person with a great sense of style! Sunniva, thank you for all the chats about everything and nothing. You are always a joy to be around and so easy to talk to. Alfred, my gym bro. Thank you for always being such a considerate and motivating person. I am going to miss your quirky ways and props, box of doom and whatnot. Karl, you have one peculiar sense of humor, but I like it. Never change. And forever thank you for the cover illustration. Stefanie, teaching with you was a blast. Thank you for always being so kind and caring. Katharina, thank you for taking the fight for PhD students' rights and for being generally badass. Silvana, you are so much fun to talk to. I wish we would have got more time to hangout, but I wish you all the luck in your PhD. Simon, my fellow vegan, you are deeply missed at the lab. Thank you for all the recipes and enlightening talks of cults and everything bizarre. Davide, I miss having your friendly face around. Thank you for always being such a kind soul. Why did you have to move so far away?!

To all my darlings overseas. **Prippsan**, **Ylva**, **Vercki**, **Martina**, **Aimi**, **Malin** and more, where would I be without you. You are my cornerstones and I hope you know how much you mean to me. Nothing would be possible without you.

Lastly, I want to give a big thank you to my **family** for always supporting me in all my different endeavors, and for every now and then sending me surprise packages with Finnish bread in the mail.

REFERENCES

- 1. Wang, B. *et al.* Liquid–liquid phase separation in human health and diseases. *Signal Transduction and Targeted Therapy* **6**, 290 (2021).
- 2. Ow, Y.P., Green, D.R., Hao, Z. & Mak, T.W. Cytochrome c: functions beyond respiration. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* **9**, 532-42 (2008).
- 3. Shin, Y. & Brangwynne, C.P. Liquid phase condensation in cell physiology and disease. *Science* **357**, eaaf4382 (2017).
- 4. Mehta, S. & Zhang, J. Liquid–liquid phase separation drives cellular function and dysfunction in cancer. *Nature Reviews Cancer* **22**, 239-252 (2022).
- 5. Wilson, E.B. THE STRUCTURE OF PROTOPLASM. *Science* **10**, 33-45 (1899).
- 6. Johansson, H.-O., Brooks, D. & Haynes, C. Macromolecular crowding and its consequences. *International review of cytology* **192**, 155-170 (1999).
- 7. Brangwynne, C.P. *et al.* Germline P granules are liquid droplets that localize by controlled dissolution/condensation. *Science* **324**, 1729-32 (2009).
- 8. Alberti, S. & Dormann, D. Liquid-Liquid Phase Separation in Disease. *Annu Rev Genet* **53**, 171-194 (2019).
- 9. Strom, A.R. *et al.* Phase separation drives heterochromatin domain formation. *Nature* **547**, 241-245 (2017).
- 10. Du, M. & Chen, Z.J. DNA-induced liquid phase condensation of cGAS activates innate immune signaling. *Science* **361**, 704-709 (2018).
- Yoshizawa, T. *et al.* Nuclear Import Receptor Inhibits Phase Separation of FUS through Binding to Multiple Sites. *Cell* **173**, 693-705.e22 (2018).
- 12. Zhang, G., Wang, Z., Du, Z. & Zhang, H. mTOR Regulates Phase Separation of PGL Granules to Modulate Their Autophagic Degradation. *Cell* **174**, 1492-1506.e22 (2018).
- 13. Lindström, M. *et al.* Lsm7 phase-separated condensates trigger stress granule formation. *Nature Communications* **13**, 3701 (2022).
- 14. Brangwynne, C.P., Mitchison, T.J. & Hyman, A.A. Active liquid-like behavior of nucleoli determines their size and shape in Xenopus laevis oocytes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **108**, 4334-9 (2011).
- 15. Molliex, A. *et al.* Phase separation by low complexity domains promotes stress granule assembly and drives pathological fibrillization. *Cell* **163**, 123-133 (2015).

- Banani, S.F., Lee, H.O., Hyman, A.A. & Rosen, M.K. Biomolecular condensates: organizers of cellular biochemistry. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 18, 285-298 (2017).
- 17. Li, P. *et al.* Phase transitions in the assembly of multivalent signalling proteins. *Nature* **483**, 336-40 (2012).
- Sanders, D.W. *et al.* Competing Protein-RNA Interaction Networks Control Multiphase Intracellular Organization. *Cell* 181, 306-324.e28 (2020).
- 19. Guillén-Boixet, J. *et al.* RNA-Induced Conformational Switching and Clustering of G3BP Drive Stress Granule Assembly by Condensation. *Cell* **181**, 346-361.e17 (2020).
- 20. Zhang, H. *et al.* Liquid-liquid phase separation in biology: mechanisms, physiological functions and human diseases. *Sci China Life Sci* **63**, 953-985 (2020).
- 21. Wang, J. *et al.* A Molecular Grammar Governing the Driving Forces for Phase Separation of Prion-like RNA Binding Proteins. *Cell* **174**, 688-699.e16 (2018).
- 22. Patel, A. *et al.* A liquid-to-solid phase transition of the ALS protein FUS accelerated by disease mutation. *Cell* **162**, 1066-1077 (2015).
- 23. Spector, D.L. SnapShot: Cellular bodies. Cell 127, 1071 (2006).
- 24. Tauber, D., Tauber, G. & Parker, R. Mechanisms and Regulation of RNA Condensation in RNP Granule Formation. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences* **45**, 764-778 (2020).
- 25. Banani, S.F. *et al.* Compositional Control of Phase-Separated Cellular Bodies. *Cell* **166**, 651-663 (2016).
- 26. Hyman, A.A., Weber, C.A. & Jülicher, F. Liquid-liquid phase separation in biology. *Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol* **30**, 39-58 (2014).
- 27. Protter, D.S.W. & Parker, R. Principles and Properties of Stress Granules. *Trends in Cell Biology* **26**, 668-679 (2016).
- 28. Buchan, J.R., Muhlrad, D. & Parker, R. P bodies promote stress granule assembly in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *The Journal of Cell Biology* **183**, 441 (2008).
- 29. Kedersha, N. *et al.* Stress granules and processing bodies are dynamically linked sites of mRNP remodeling. *The Journal of cell biology* **169**, 871-884 (2005).
- 30. Youn, J.-Y. *et al.* High-density proximity mapping reveals the subcellular organization of mRNA-associated granules and bodies. *Molecular cell* **69**, 517-532. e11 (2018).
- 31. Hofmann, S., Kedersha, N., Anderson, P. & Ivanov, P. Molecular mechanisms of stress granule assembly and disassembly. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Molecular Cell Research* **1868**, 118876 (2021).

- 32. Bolognesi, B. *et al.* A Concentration-Dependent Liquid Phase Separation Can Cause Toxicity upon Increased Protein Expression. *Cell Rep* **16**, 222-231 (2016).
- 33. Lechler, M.C. & David, D.C. More stressed out with age? Check your RNA granule aggregation. *Prion* **11**, 313-322 (2017).
- 34. Moon, S.L. *et al.* Multicolour single-molecule tracking of mRNA interactions with RNP granules. *Nature cell biology* **21**, 162-168 (2019).
- Pitchiaya, S. *et al.* Dynamic recruitment of single RNAs to processing bodies depends on RNA functionality. *Molecular cell* 74, 521-533. e6 (2019).
- 36. Van Treeck, B. *et al.* RNA self-assembly contributes to stress granule formation and defining the stress granule transcriptome. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **115**, 2734-2739 (2018).
- 37. Lin, Y., Protter, D.S., Rosen, M.K. & Parker, R. Formation and maturation of phase-separated liquid droplets by RNA-binding proteins. *Molecular cell* **60**, 208-219 (2015).
- 38. Boeynaems, S. *et al.* Spontaneous driving forces give rise to protein– RNA condensates with coexisting phases and complex material properties. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **116**, 7889-7898 (2019).
- 39. Yang, P. *et al.* G3BP1 Is a Tunable Switch that Triggers Phase Separation to Assemble Stress Granules. *Cell* **181**, 325-345.e28 (2020).
- 40. Teixeira, D. & Parker, R. Analysis of P-body assembly in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Mol Biol Cell* **18**, 2274-87 (2007).
- 41. Kedersha, N. *et al.* Dynamic shuttling of TIA-1 accompanies the recruitment of mRNA to mammalian stress granules. *The Journal of cell biology* **151**, 1257-1268 (2000).
- 42. Fay, M.M., Anderson, P.J. & Ivanov, P. ALS/FTD-Associated C9ORF72 Repeat RNA Promotes Phase Transitions In Vitro and in Cells. *Cell Reports* **21**, 3573-3584 (2017).
- 43. Morimoto, R.I. The heat shock response: systems biology of proteotoxic stress in aging and disease. *Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol* **76**, 91-9 (2011).
- 44. Warringer, J., Hult, M., Regot, S., Posas, F. & Sunnerhagen, P. The HOG pathway dictates the short-term translational response after hyperosmotic shock. *Molecular biology of the cell* **21**, 3080-3092 (2010).
- 45. Melamed, D., Pnueli, L. & Arava, Y. Yeast translational response to high salinity: global analysis reveals regulation at multiple levels. *Rna* **14**, 1337-1351 (2008).

- 46. Molin, C., Jauhiainen, A., Warringer, J., Nerman, O. & Sunnerhagen, P. mRNA stability changes precede changes in steady-state mRNA amounts during hyperosmotic stress. *Rna* **15**, 600-614 (2009).
- Romero-Santacreu, L., Moreno, J., Pérez-Ortín, J.E. & Alepuz, P. Specific and global regulation of mRNA stability during osmotic stress in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Rna* 15, 1110-1120 (2009).
- 48. Shenton, D. *et al.* Global translational responses to oxidative stress impact upon multiple levels of protein synthesis. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **281**, 29011-29021 (2006).
- 49. Garre, E. *et al.* Yeast mRNA cap-binding protein Cbc1/Sto1 is necessary for the rapid reprogramming of translation after hyperosmotic shock. *Molecular biology of the cell* **23**, 137-150 (2012).
- 50. Uren Webster, T.M. *et al.* Contrasting effects of acute and chronic stress on the transcriptome, epigenome, and immune response of Atlantic salmon. *Epigenetics* **13**, 1191-1207 (2018).
- 51. Rentscher, K.E., Carroll, J.E., Polsky, L.R. & Lamkin, D.M. Chronic stress increases transcriptomic indicators of biological aging in mouse bone marrow leukocytes. *Brain Behav Immun Health* **22**, 100461 (2022).
- 52. Yang, L., Gal, J., Chen, J. & Zhu, H. Self-assembled FUS binds active chromatin and regulates gene transcription. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **111**, 17809-17814 (2014).
- Hofmann, S., Cherkasova, V., Bankhead, P., Bukau, B. & Stoecklin, G. Translation suppression promotes stress granule formation and cell survival in response to cold shock. *Molecular biology of the cell* 23, 3786-3800 (2012).
- 54. Zeng, W.-j. *et al.* Initiation of stress granule assembly by rapid clustering of IGF2BP proteins upon osmotic shock. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Molecular Cell Research* **1867**, 118795 (2020).
- 55. Buchan, J.R., Yoon, J.-H. & Parker, R. Stress-specific composition, assembly and kinetics of stress granules in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Journal of Cell Science* 124, 228 (2011).
- 56. Kedersha, N.L., Gupta, M., Li, W., Miller, I. & Anderson, P. RNAbinding proteins TIA-1 and TIAR link the phosphorylation of eIF-2α to the assembly of mammalian stress granules. *The Journal of cell biology* 147, 1431-1442 (1999).
- 57. Kim, S.H., Dong, W.K., Weiler, I.J. & Greenough, W.T. Fragile X mental retardation protein shifts between polyribosomes and stress

granules after neuronal injury by arsenite stress or in vivo hippocampal electrode insertion. *J Neurosci* **26**, 2413-8 (2006).

- 58. Mazroui, R. *et al.* Inhibition of ribosome recruitment induces stress granule formation independently of eukaryotic initiation factor 2alpha phosphorylation. *Mol Biol Cell* **17**, 4212-9 (2006).
- 59. Van Der Laan, A.M. *et al.* mRNA cycles through hypoxia-induced stress granules in live Drosophila embryonic muscles. *International Journal of Developmental Biology* **56**, 701-709 (2012).
- 60. Zhang, J., Okabe, K., Tani, T. & Funatsu, T. Dynamic association– dissociation and harboring of endogenous mRNAs in stress granules. *Journal of cell science* **124**, 4087-4095 (2011).
- 61. Banani, S.F., Lee, H.O., Hyman, A.A. & Rosen, M.K. Biomolecular condensates: organizers of cellular biochemistry. *Nature reviews Molecular cell biology* **18**, 285-298 (2017).
- 62. Niewidok, B. *et al.* Single-molecule imaging reveals dynamic biphasic partition of RNA-binding proteins in stress granules. *Journal of Cell Biology* **217**, 1303-1318 (2018).
- 63. Jain, S. *et al.* ATPase-modulated stress granules contain a diverse proteome and substructure. *Cell* **164**, 487-498 (2016).
- 64. Guzikowski, A.R., Chen, Y.S. & Zid, B.M. Stress-induced mRNP granules: form and function of processing bodies and stress granules. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: RNA* **10**, e1524 (2019).
- 65. Moser, J.J. & Fritzler, M.J. Cytoplasmic ribonucleoprotein (RNP) bodies and their relationship to GW/P bodies. *The International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology* **42**, 828-843 (2010).
- 66. Tourrière, H. *et al.* The RasGAP-associated endoribonuclease G3BP assembles stress granules. *The Journal of cell biology* **160**, 823-831 (2003).
- 67. Takahara, T. & Maeda, T. Transient sequestration of TORC1 into stress granules during heat stress. *Molecular cell* **47**, 242-252 (2012).
- 68. Riggs, C.L., Kedersha, N., Ivanov, P. & Anderson, P. Mammalian stress granules and P bodies at a glance. *Journal of cell science* **133**, jcs242487 (2020).
- 69. Mokas, S. *et al.* Uncoupling stress granule assembly and translation initiation inhibition. *Molecular biology of the cell* **20**, 2673-2683 (2009).
- 70. Loschi, M., Leishman, C.C., Berardone, N. & Boccaccio, G.L. Dynein and kinesin regulate stress-granule and P-body dynamics. *Journal of cell science* **122**, 3973-3982 (2009).
- 71. Ohn, T., Kedersha, N., Hickman, T., Tisdale, S. & Anderson, P. A functional RNAi screen links O-GlcNAc modification of ribosomal proteins to stress granule and processing body assembly. *Nature cell biology* **10**, 1224-1231 (2008).

- 72. Kedersha, N., Ivanov, P. & Anderson, P. Stress granules and cell signaling: more than just a passing phase? *Trends in biochemical sciences* **38**, 494-506 (2013).
- 73. Buchan, J. & Parker, R. Eukaryotic stress granules: the ins and outs of translation. Mol Cell36: 932–941. (2009).
- 74. Lavut, A. & Raveh, D. Sequestration of highly expressed mRNAs in cytoplasmic granules, P-bodies, and stress granules enhances cell viability. *PLoS genetics* **8**, e1002527 (2012).
- 75. Lloyd, R.E. Regulation of stress granules and P-bodies during RNA virus infection. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: RNA* **4**, 317-331 (2013).
- Li, Y.R., King, O.D., Shorter, J. & Gitler, A.D. Stress granules as crucibles of ALS pathogenesis. *Journal of cell biology* 201, 361-372 (2013).
- 77. Anderson, P., Kedersha, N. & Ivanov, P. Stress granules, P-bodies and cancer. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Gene Regulatory Mechanisms* 1849, 861-870 (2015).
- Anderson, P. & Kedersha, N. RNA granules. *The Journal of cell biology* 172, 803-808 (2006).
- 79. Panas, M.D., Ivanov, P. & Anderson, P. Mechanistic insights into mammalian stress granule dynamics. *Journal of Cell Biology* **215**, 313-323 (2016).
- Dang, Y. *et al.* Eukaryotic initiation factor 2α-independent pathway of stress granule induction by the natural product pateamine A. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 281, 32870-32878 (2006).
- Mazroui, R. *et al.* Inhibition of ribosome recruitment induces stress granule formation independently of eukaryotic initiation factor 2α phosphorylation. *Molecular biology of the cell* 17, 4212-4219 (2006).
- Grousl, T. *et al.* Robust heat shock induces eIF2α-phosphorylationindependent assembly of stress granules containing eIF3 and 40S ribosomal subunits in budding yeast, Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Journal of cell science* 122, 2078-2088 (2009).
- 83. Nilsson, D. & Sunnerhagen, P. Cellular stress induces cytoplasmic RNA granules in fission yeast. *Rna* **17**, 120-133 (2011).
- Advani, V.M. & Ivanov, P. Stress granule subtypes: an emerging link to neurodegeneration. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences* 77, 4827-4845 (2020).
- 85. Bounedjah, O. *et al.* Free mRNA in excess upon polysome dissociation is a scaffold for protein multimerization to form stress granules. *Nucleic acids research* **42**, 8678-8691 (2014).
- Mahadevan, K. *et al.* RanBP2/Nup358 potentiates the translation of a subset of mRNAs encoding secretory proteins. *PLoS biology* 11, e1001545 (2013).

- 87. Gilks, N. *et al.* Stress granule assembly is mediated by prion-like aggregation of TIA-1. *Mol Biol Cell* **15**, 5383-98 (2004).
- 88. Elbaum-Garfinkle, S. *et al.* The disordered P granule protein LAF-1 drives phase separation into droplets with tunable viscosity and dynamics. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* **112**, 7189-94 (2015).
- 89. Decker, C.J., Teixeira, D. & Parker, R. Edc3p and a glutamine/asparagine-rich domain of Lsm4p function in processing body assembly in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *J Cell Biol* **179**, 437-49 (2007).
- 90. Reijns, M.A., Alexander, R.D., Spiller, M.P. & Beggs, J.D. A role for Q/N-rich aggregation-prone regions in P-body localization. *J Cell Sci* **121**, 2463-72 (2008).
- 91. Ditlev, J.A., Case, L.B. & Rosen, M.K. Who's In and Who's Out-Compositional Control of Biomolecular Condensates. *J Mol Biol* **430**, 4666-4684 (2018).
- 92. Anderson, P. & Kedersha, N. Stress granules: the Tao of RNA triage. *Trends in biochemical sciences* **33**, 141-150 (2008).
- 93. Tsai, W.-C. *et al.* Arginine demethylation of G3BP1 promotes stress granule assembly. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **291**, 22671-22685 (2016).
- 94. Nostramo, R., Varia, S.N., Zhang, B., Emerson, M.M. & Herman, P.K. The Catalytic Activity of the Ubp3 Deubiquitinating Protease Is Required for Efficient Stress Granule Assembly in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Mol Cell Biol* **36**, 173-83 (2016).
- 95. Kedersha, N. *et al.* G3BP–Caprin1–USP10 complexes mediate stress granule condensation and associate with 40S subunits. *Journal of Cell Biology* **212**(2016).
- 96. Marmor-Kollet, H. *et al.* Spatiotemporal proteomic analysis of stress granule disassembly using APEX reveals regulation by SUMOylation and links to ALS pathogenesis. *Molecular cell* **80**, 876-891. e6 (2020).
- 97. Cherkasov, V. *et al.* Coordination of translational control and protein homeostasis during severe heat stress. *Current biology* **23**, 2452-2462 (2013).
- 98. Alberti, S., Mateju, D., Mediani, L. & Carra, S. Granulostasis: Protein Quality Control of RNP Granules. *Front Mol Neurosci* **10**, 84 (2017).
- 99. Vanderweyde, T. *et al.* Contrasting pathology of the stress granule proteins TIA-1 and G3BP in tauopathies. *Journal of Neuroscience* **32**, 8270-8283 (2012).
- 100. Wheeler, J.R., Matheny, T., Jain, S., Abrisch, R. & Parker, R. Distinct stages in stress granule assembly and disassembly. *elife* 5, e18413 (2016).

- Gal, J. *et al.* The acetylation of lysine-376 of G3BP1 regulates RNA binding and stress granule dynamics. *Molecular and cellular biology* 39, e00052-19 (2019).
- Tsai, N.P., Ho, P.C. & Wei, L.N. Regulation of stress granule dynamics by Grb7 and FAK signalling pathway. *The EMBO journal* 27, 715-726 (2008).
- 103. Gwon, Y. *et al.* Ubiquitination of G3BP1 mediates stress granule disassembly in a context-specific manner. *Science* **372**, eabf6548 (2021).
- 104. Ganassi, M. *et al.* A surveillance function of the HSPB8-BAG3-HSP70 chaperone complex ensures stress granule integrity and dynamism. *Molecular cell* **63**, 796-810 (2016).
- 105. Tolay, N. & Buchberger, A. Comparative profiling of stress granule clearance reveals differential contributions of the ubiquitin system. *Life Sci Alliance* **4**(2021).
- 106. Buchan, J.R. mRNP granules. Assembly, function, and connections with disease. *RNA Biol* **11**, 1019-30 (2014).
- 107. Alberti, S., Halfmann, R., King, O., Kapila, A. & Lindquist, S. A systematic survey identifies prions and illuminates sequence features of prionogenic proteins. *Cell* **137**, 146-58 (2009).
- 108. Arai, T. *et al.* TDP-43 is a component of ubiquitin-positive taunegative inclusions in frontotemporal lobar degeneration and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **351**, 602-11 (2006).
- 109. Neumann, M. *et al.* A new subtype of frontotemporal lobar degeneration with FUS pathology. *Brain* **132**, 2922-2931 (2009).
- 110. Alberti, S. & Hyman, A.A. Are aberrant phase transitions a driver of cellular aging? *Bioessays* **38**, 959-68 (2016).
- 111. Mahboubi, H. & Stochaj, U. Cytoplasmic stress granules: Dynamic modulators of cell signaling and disease. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) Molecular Basis of Disease* **1863**, 884-895 (2017).
- Sheth, U. & Parker, R. Decapping and Decay of Messenger RNA Occur in Cytoplasmic Processing Bodies. *Science* **300**, 805-808 (2003).
- 113. Parker, R. & Sheth, U. P Bodies and the Control of mRNA Translation and Degradation. *Molecular Cell* **25**, 635-646 (2007).
- 114. Coller, J. & Parker, R. General translational repression by activators of mRNA decapping. *Cell* **122**, 875-86 (2005).
- 115. Balagopal, V. & Parker, R. Polysomes, P bodies and stress granules: states and fates of eukaryotic mRNAs. *Current opinion in cell biology* 21, 403-408 (2009).

- 116. Eulalio, A., Behm-Ansmant, I. & Izaurralde, E. P bodies: at the crossroads of post-transcriptional pathways. *Nature reviews Molecular cell biology* **8**, 9-22 (2007).
- 117. Huch, S. & Nissan, T. An mRNA decapping mutant deficient in P body assembly limits mRNA stabilization in response to osmotic stress. *Sci Rep* 7, 44395 (2017).
- 118. Brengues, M., Teixeira, D. & Parker, R. Movement of eukaryotic mRNAs between polysomes and cytoplasmic processing bodies. *Science* **310**, 486-489 (2005).
- 119. Kedersha, N. & Anderson, P. Regulation of translation by stress granules and processing bodies. *Progress in molecular biology and translational science* **90**, 155-185 (2009).
- 120. Mollet, S. *et al.* Translationally repressed mRNA transiently cycles through stress granules during stress. *Molecular biology of the cell* **19**, 4469-4479 (2008).
- 121. Fromm, S.A. *et al.* In Vitro Reconstitution of a Cellular Phase-Transition Process that Involves the mRNA Decapping Machinery. *Angewandte Chemie International Edition* **53**, 7354-7359 (2014).
- 122. Luo, Y., Na, Z. & Slavoff, S.A. P-Bodies: Composition, Properties, and Functions. *Biochemistry* **57**, 2424-2431 (2018).
- 123. Arribas-Layton, M., Dennis, J., Bennett Eric, J., Damgaard Christian, K. & Lykke-Andersen, J. The C-Terminal RGG Domain of Human Lsm4 Promotes Processing Body Formation Stimulated by Arginine Dimethylation. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 36, 2226-2235 (2016).
- 124. Shah, K.H., Zhang, B., Ramachandran, V. & Herman, P.K. Processing body and stress granule assembly occur by independent and differentially regulated pathways in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Genetics* **193**, 109-123 (2013).
- 125. Hoyle, N.P., Castelli, L.M., Campbell, S.G., Holmes, L.E. & Ashe, M.P. Stress-dependent relocalization of translationally primed mRNPs to cytoplasmic granules that are kinetically and spatially distinct from P-bodies. *The Journal of cell biology* **179**, 65-74 (2007).
- 126. Riback, J.A. *et al.* Stress-Triggered Phase Separation Is an Adaptive, Evolutionarily Tuned Response. *Cell* **168**, 1028-1040.e19 (2017).
- 127. Coller, J. & Parker, R. Eukaryotic mRNA decapping. *Annual review* of biochemistry **73**, 861-890 (2004).
- Sharif, H. & Conti, E. Architecture of the Lsm1-7-Pat1 Complex: A Conserved Assembly in Eukaryotic mRNA Turnover. *Cell Reports* 5, 283-291 (2013).
- 129. Tharun, S. Lsm1-7-Pat1 complex: A link between 3'and 5'-ends in mRNA decay? *RNA biology* **6**, 228-232 (2009).

- Chowdhury, A., Mukhopadhyay, J. & Tharun, S. The decapping activator Lsm1p-7p–Pat1p complex has the intrinsic ability to distinguish between oligoadenylated and polyadenylated RNAs. *Rna* 13, 998-1016 (2007).
- 131. Mitchell, J.C. *et al.* Overexpression of human wild-type FUS causes progressive motor neuron degeneration in an age- and dose-dependent fashion. *Acta Neuropathol* **125**, 273-88 (2013).
- 132. Lobel, J.H. & Gross, J.D. Pdc2/Pat1 increases the range of decay factors and RNA bound by the Lsm1-7 complex. *Rna* **26**, 1380-1388 (2020).
- 133. Chowdhury, A. & Tharun, S. lsm1 mutations impairing the ability of the Lsm1p-7p-Pat1p complex to preferentially bind to oligoadenylated RNA affect mRNA decay in vivo. *Rna* 14, 2149-58 (2008).
- 134. Tharun, S. *et al.* Yeast Sm-like proteins function in mRNA decapping and decay. *Nature* **404**, 515-518 (2000).
- 135. Sharif, H. *et al.* Structural analysis of the yeast Dhh1–Pat1 complex reveals how Dhh1 engages Pat1, Edc3 and RNA in mutually exclusive interactions. *Nucleic Acids Research* **41**, 8377-8390 (2013).
- 136. Nissan, T., Rajyaguru, P., She, M., Song, H. & Parker, R. Decapping activators in Saccharomyces cerevisiae act by multiple mechanisms. *Mol Cell* **39**, 773-83 (2010).
- 137. Tharun, S. & Parker, R. Targeting an mRNA for decapping: displacement of translation factors and association of the Lsm1p–7p complex on deadenylated yeast mRNAs. *Molecular cell* 8, 1075-1083 (2001).
- 138. Tharun, S. Lsm1-7-Pat1 complex: A link between 3' and 5'-ends in mRNA decay? *RNA Biology* **6**, 228-232 (2009).
- Timmers, H.T.M. & Tora, L. Transcript buffering: a balancing act between mRNA synthesis and mRNA degradation. *Molecular cell* 72, 10-17 (2018).
- 140. Chalabi Hagkarim, N. & Grand, R.J. The Regulatory Properties of the Ccr4–Not Complex. in *Cells* Vol. 9 (2020).
- 141. Kruk, J.A., Dutta, A., Fu, J., Gilmour, D.S. & Reese, J.C. The multifunctional Ccr4–Not complex directly promotes transcription elongation. *Genes & development* **25**, 581-593 (2011).
- 142. Azzouz, N., Panasenko, O.O., Colau, G. & Collart, M.A. The CCR4-NOT complex physically and functionally interacts with TRAMP and the nuclear exosome. *PLoS One* **4**, e6760 (2009).
- 143. Collart, M.A. The Ccr4-Not complex is a key regulator of eukaryotic gene expression. *WIREs RNA* 7, 438-454 (2016).

- 144. Manukyan, A. *et al.* Ccr4 alters cell size in yeast by modulating the timing of CLN1 and CLN2 expression. *Genetics* **179**, 345-57 (2008).
- 145. Collart, M.A. The Ccr4-Not complex is a key regulator of eukaryotic gene expression. *Wiley Interdiscip Rev RNA* **7**, 438-54 (2016).
- 146. Lau, N.C. *et al.* Human Ccr4-Not complexes contain variable deadenylase subunits. *Biochem J* **422**, 443-53 (2009).
- 147. Mauxion, F., Prève, B. & Séraphin, B. C2ORF29/CNOT11 and CNOT10 form a new module of the CCR4-NOT complex. *RNA biology* **10**, 267-276 (2013).
- 148. Azzouz, N. *et al.* Specific roles for the Ccr4-Not complex subunits in expression of the genome. *Rna* **15**, 377-383 (2009).
- 149. Mostafa, D. *et al.* Essential functions of the CNOT7/8 catalytic subunits of the CCR4-NOT complex in mRNA regulation and cell viability. *RNA biology* **17**, 403-416 (2020).
- 150. Lau, N.-C. *et al.* Human Ccr4–Not complexes contain variable deadenylase subunits. *Biochemical Journal* **422**, 443-453 (2009).
- Cougot, N., Babajko, S. & Séraphin, B. Cytoplasmic foci are sites of mRNA decay in human cells. *The Journal of cell biology* 165, 31-40 (2004).
- 152. Miller, J.E. & Reese, J.C. Ccr4-Not complex: the control freak of eukaryotic cells. *Critical reviews in biochemistry and molecular biology* **47**, 315-333 (2012).
- 153. Tucker, M. *et al.* The Transcription Factor Associated Ccr4 and Caf1 Proteins Are Components of the Major Cytoplasmic mRNA Deadenylase in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Cell* 104, 377-386 (2001).
- 154. Wahle, E. & Winkler, G.S. RNA decay machines: deadenylation by the Ccr4–Not and Pan2–Pan3 complexes. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Gene Regulatory Mechanisms* **1829**, 561-570 (2013).
- Nousch, M., Techritz, N., Hampel, D., Millonigg, S. & Eckmann, C.R. The Ccr4–Not deadenylase complex constitutes the main poly (A) removal activity in C. elegans. *Journal of cell science* 126, 4274-4285 (2013).
- 156. Basquin, J. *et al.* Architecture of the nuclease module of the yeast Ccr4-not complex: the Not1-Caf1-Ccr4 interaction. *Mol Cell* **48**, 207-18 (2012).
- 157. Clark, L.B. *et al.* Systematic Mutagenesis of the Leucine-rich Repeat (LRR) Domain of CCR4 Reveals Specific Sites for Binding to CAF1 and a Separate Critical Role for the LRR in CCR4 Deadenylase Activity *. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **279**, 13616-13623 (2004).

- 158. Yamashita, A. *et al.* Concerted action of poly (A) nucleases and decapping enzyme in mammalian mRNA turnover. *Nature structural & molecular biology* **12**, 1054-1063 (2005).
- 159. Webster, M.W. *et al.* mRNA deadenylation is coupled to translation rates by the differential activities of Ccr4-Not nucleases. *Molecular cell* **70**, 1089-1100. e8 (2018).
- 160. Ito, K., Takahashi, A., Morita, M., Suzuki, T. & Yamamoto, T. The role of the CNOT1 subunit of the CCR4-NOT complex in mRNA deadenylation and cell viability. *Protein & Cell* **2**, 755-763 (2011).
- 161. Ito, K. *et al.* CNOT2 depletion disrupts and inhibits the CCR4–NOT deadenylase complex and induces apoptotic cell death. *Genes to Cells* **16**, 368-379 (2011).
- 162. Buschauer, R. *et al.* The Ccr4-Not complex monitors the translating ribosome for codon optimality. *Science* **368**, eaay6912 (2020).
- 163. Muhlrad, D. & Parker, R. The yeast EDC1 mRNA undergoes deadenylation-independent decapping stimulated by Not2p, Not4p, and Not5p. *The EMBO Journal* **24**, 1033-1045 (2005).
- Panasenko, O.O. & Collart, M.A. Not4 E3 ligase contributes to proteasome assembly and functional integrity in part through Ecm29. *Molecular and cellular biology* 31, 1610-1623 (2011).
- 165. Chen, Y. *et al.* A DDX6-CNOT1 complex and W-binding pockets in CNOT9 reveal direct links between miRNA target recognition and silencing. *Molecular cell* **54**, 737-750 (2014).
- 166. Raisch, T. *et al.* Reconstitution of recombinant human CCR4-NOT reveals molecular insights into regulated deadenylation. *Nature communications* **10**, 1-14 (2019).
- Dronamraju, R. *et al.* Spt6 association with RNA polymerase II directs mRNA turnover during transcription. *Molecular cell* 70, 1054-1066. e4 (2018).
- Bloom, J. & Cross, F.R. Multiple levels of cyclin specificity in cellcycle control. *Nature reviews Molecular cell biology* 8, 149-160 (2007).
- 169. Jorgensen, P., Nishikawa, J.L., Breitkreutz, B.J. & Tyers, M. Systematic identification of pathways that couple cell growth and division in yeast. *Science* **297**, 395-400 (2002).
- 170. Dirick, L., Böhm, T. & Nasmyth, K. Roles and regulation of Cln-Cdc28 kinases at the start of the cell cycle of Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *The EMBO journal* **14**, 4803-4813 (1995).
- 171. Di Como, C.J., Chang, H. & Arndt, K.T. Activation of CLN1 and CLN2 G1 cyclin gene expression by BCK2. *Mol Cell Biol* 15, 1835-46 (1995).
- 172. de Bruin, R.A., McDonald, W.H., Kalashnikova, T.I., Yates, J., 3rd & Wittenberg, C. Cln3 activates G1-specific transcription via

phosphorylation of the SBF bound repressor Whi5. *Cell* **117**, 887-98 (2004).

- 173. Costanzo, M. *et al.* CDK activity antagonizes Whi5, an inhibitor of G1/S transcription in yeast. *Cell* **117**, 899-913 (2004).
- 174. Wijnen, H. & Futcher, B. Genetic analysis of the shared role of CLN3 and BCK2 at the G(1)-S transition in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Genetics* **153**, 1131-43 (1999).
- 175. Song, X.-H. *et al.* Human Ccr4 and Caf1 Deadenylases Regulate Proliferation and Tumorigenicity of Human Gastric Cancer Cells via Modulating Cell Cycle Progression. in *Cancers* Vol. 13 (2021).
- 176. Morita, M. *et al.* Depletion of mammalian CCR4b deadenylase triggers elevation of the p27Kip1 mRNA level and impairs cell growth. *Mol Cell Biol* **27**, 4980-90 (2007).
- 177. Mittal, S., Aslam, A., Doidge, R., Medica, R. & Winkler, G.S. The Ccr4a (CNOT6) and Ccr4b (CNOT6L) deadenylase subunits of the human Ccr4-Not complex contribute to the prevention of cell death and senescence. *Mol Biol Cell* **22**, 748-58 (2011).
- 178. Sha, Q.-Q. *et al.* CNOT6L couples the selective degradation of maternal transcripts to meiotic cell cycle progression in mouse oocyte. *The EMBO Journal* **37**, e99333 (2018).
- 179. Zbinden, A., Pérez-Berlanga, M., De Rossi, P. & Polymenidou, M. Phase separation and neurodegenerative diseases: a disturbance in the force. *Developmental cell* **55**, 45-68 (2020).
- Polymenidou, M. & Cleveland, D.W. The seeds of neurodegeneration: prion-like spreading in ALS. *Cell* 147, 498-508 (2011).
- 181. Qamar, S. *et al.* FUS phase separation is modulated by a molecular chaperone and methylation of arginine cation- π interactions. *Cell* **173**, 720-734. e15 (2018).
- 182. Lindström, M. & Liu, B. Yeast as a Model to Unravel Mechanisms Behind FUS Toxicity in Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis. *Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience* 11(2018).
- Tenreiro, S., Munder Matthias, C., Alberti, S. & Outeiro Tiago, F. Harnessing the power of yeast to unravel the molecular basis of neurodegeneration. *Journal of Neurochemistry* 127, 438-452 (2013).
- Heinicke, S. *et al.* The Princeton Protein Orthology Database (P-POD): A Comparative Genomics Analysis Tool for Biologists. *PLOS ONE* 2, e766 (2007).
- Gitler, A.D. Beer and bread to brains and beyond: can yeast cells teach us about neurodegenerative disease? *Neurosignals* 16, 52-62 (2008).
- Tong, A.H. & Boone, C. Synthetic genetic array analysis in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Methods Mol Biol* 313, 171-92 (2006).

- 187. Outeiro, T.F. & Lindquist, S. Yeast Cells Provide Insight into Alpha-Synuclein Biology and Pathobiology. *Science* **302**, 1772 (2003).
- 188. Sun, Z. *et al.* Molecular Determinants and Genetic Modifiers of Aggregation and Toxicity for the ALS Disease Protein FUS/TLS. *PLOS Biology* **9**, e1000614 (2011).
- 189. Krobitsch, S. & Lindquist, S. Aggregation of huntingtin in yeast varies with the length of the polyglutamine expansion and the expression of chaperone proteins. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **97**, 1589 (2000).
- 190. Johnson, B.S., McCaffery, J.M., Lindquist, S. & Gitler, A.D. A yeast TDP-43 proteinopathy model: Exploring the molecular determinants of TDP-43 aggregation and cellular toxicity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **105**, 6439-6444 (2008).
- 191. Willingham, S., Outeiro, T.F., DeVit, M.J., Lindquist, S.L. & Muchowski, P.J. Yeast Genes That Enhance the Toxicity of a Mutant Huntingtin Fragment or α-Synuclein. *Science* **302**, 1769 (2003).
- 192. Couthouis, J. *et al.* A yeast functional screen predicts new candidate ALS disease genes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **108**, 20881-20890 (2011).
- 193. Ju, S. *et al.* A Yeast Model of FUS/TLS-Dependent Cytotoxicity. *PLOS Biology* **9**, e1001052 (2011).
- 194. Jackrel, M.E. *et al.* Potentiated Hsp104 variants antagonize diverse proteotoxic misfolding events. *Cell* **156**, 170-82 (2014).
- 195. Jackrel, M.E. & Shorter, J. Engineering enhanced protein disaggregases for neurodegenerative disease. *Prion* **9**, 90-109 (2015).
- 196. Brown, R.H. & Al-Chalabi, A. Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis. *New England Journal of Medicine* **377**, 162-172 (2017).
- 197. Niedermeyer, S., Murn, M. & Choi, P.J. Respiratory Failure in Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis. *Chest* **155**, 401-408 (2019).
- Talbott, E.O., Malek, A.M. & Lacomis, D. The epidemiology of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Handb Clin Neurol* 138, 225-38 (2016).
- 199. Ederle, H. & Dormann, D. TDP-43 and FUS en route from the nucleus to the cytoplasm. *FEBS Letters* **591**, 1489-1507 (2017).
- 200. Sreedharan, J. & Brown Jr, R.H. Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: Problems and prospects. *Annals of Neurology* **74**, 309-316 (2013).
- 201. Shaw, C.E., Al-Chalabi, A. & Leigh, N. Progress in the pathogenesis of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Current Neurology and Neuroscience Reports* 1, 69-76 (2001).
- Guerrero, E.N. *et al.* TDP-43/FUS in motor neuron disease: Complexity and challenges. *Progress in Neurobiology* 145-146, 78-97 (2016).

- Rosen, D.R. *et al.* Mutations in Cu/Zn superoxide dismutase gene are associated with familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Nature* 362, 59-62 (1993).
- Kwiatkowski, T.J., Jr. *et al.* Mutations in the FUS/TLS gene on chromosome 16 cause familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Science* 323, 1205-8 (2009).
- 205. Broustal, O. *et al.* FUS mutations in frontotemporal lobar degeneration with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Journal of Alzheimer's disease* **22**, 765-769 (2010).
- 206. Mackenzie, I.R., Rademakers, R. & Neumann, M. TDP-43 and FUS in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis and frontotemporal dementia. *The Lancet Neurology* **9**, 995-1007 (2010).
- Crozat, A., Åman, P., Mandahl, N. & Ron, D. Fusion of CHOP to a novel RNA-binding protein in human myxoid liposarcoma. *Nature* 363, 640-644 (1993).
- 208. Tan, A.Y. & Manley, J.L. The TET family of proteins: functions and roles in disease. *J Mol Cell Biol* **1**, 82-92 (2009).
- 209. Lagier-Tourenne, C., Polymenidou, M. & Cleveland, D.W. TDP-43 and FUS/TLS: emerging roles in RNA processing and neurodegeneration. *Human Molecular Genetics* **19**, R46-R64 (2010).
- 210. Burd, C.G. & Dreyfuss, G. Conserved structures and diversity of functions of RNA-binding proteins. *Science* **265**, 615-21 (1994).
- 211. Iko, Y. *et al.* Domain architectures and characterization of an RNAbinding protein, TLS. *J Biol Chem* **279**, 44834-40 (2004).
- 212. Zinszner, H., Sok, J., Immanuel, D., Yin, Y. & Ron, D. TLS (FUS) binds RNA in vivo and engages in nucleo-cytoplasmic shuttling. *J Cell Sci* **110** (**Pt 15**), 1741-50 (1997).
- 213. Wang, X., Schwartz, J.C. & Cech, T.R. Nucleic acid-binding specificity of human FUS protein. *Nucleic acids research* **43**, 7535-7543 (2015).
- 214. Tan, A.Y., Riley, T.R., Coady, T., Bussemaker, H.J. & Manley, J.L. TLS/FUS (translocated in liposarcoma/fused in sarcoma) regulates target gene transcription via single-stranded DNA response elements. *Proc Natl Acad Sci US A* **109**, 6030-5 (2012).
- 215. Morlando, M. *et al.* FUS stimulates microRNA biogenesis by facilitating co-transcriptional Drosha recruitment. *The EMBO journal* 31, 4502-4510 (2012).
- 216. Schoen, M. *et al.* Super-resolution microscopy reveals presynaptic localization of the ALS/FTD related protein FUS in hippocampal neurons. *Frontiers in cellular neuroscience* **9**, 496 (2016).
- 217. Andersson, M.K. *et al.* The multifunctional FUS, EWS and TAF15 proto-oncoproteins show cell type-specific expression patterns and

involvement in cell spreading and stress response. *BMC Cell Biology* **9**, 37 (2008).

- Fujii, R. *et al.* The RNA Binding Protein TLS Is Translocated to Dendritic Spines by mGluR5 Activation and Regulates Spine Morphology. *Current Biology* 15, 587-593 (2005).
- 219. Bosco, D.A. *et al.* Mutant FUS proteins that cause amyotrophic lateral sclerosis incorporate into stress granules. *Human Molecular Genetics* **19**, 4160-4175 (2010).
- 220. Dormann, D. & Haass, C. TDP-43 and FUS: a nuclear affair. *Trends in Neurosciences* **34**, 339-348 (2011).
- 221. Dormann, D. *et al.* Arginine methylation next to the PY-NLS modulates Transportin binding and nuclear import of FUS. *Embo j* 31, 4258-75 (2012).
- 222. Vance, C. *et al.* Mutations in FUS, an RNA processing protein, cause familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis type 6. *Science* **323**, 1208-1211 (2009).
- 223. Kwiatkowski Jr, T. *et al.* Mutations in the FUS/TLS gene on chromosome 16 cause familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Science* 323, 1205-1208 (2009).
- 224. Tarlarini, C. *et al.* Novel FUS mutations identified through molecular screening in a large cohort of familial and sporadic amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *European Journal of Neurology* **22**, 1474-1481 (2015).
- 225. Mackenzie, I.R. & Neumann, M. Molecular neuropathology of frontotemporal dementia: insights into disease mechanisms from postmortem studies. *Journal of neurochemistry* **138**, 54-70 (2016).
- 226. Marrone, L. *et al.* FUS pathology in ALS is linked to alterations in multiple ALS-associated proteins and rescued by drugs stimulating autophagy. *Acta Neuropathol* **138**, 67-84 (2019).
- 227. Doi, H., Koyano, S., Suzuki, Y., Nukina, N. & Kuroiwa, Y. The RNA-binding protein FUS/TLS is a common aggregate-interacting protein in polyglutamine diseases. *Neurosci Res* 66, 131-3 (2010).
- 228. Huang, E.J. *et al.* Extensive FUS-immunoreactive pathology in juvenile amyotrophic lateral sclerosis with basophilic inclusions. *Brain Pathol* **20**, 1069-76 (2010).
- 229. Matsumoto, A. *et al.* An autopsy case of frontotemporal lobar degeneration with the appearance of fused in sarcoma inclusions (basophilic inclusion body disease) clinically presenting corticobasal syndrome. *Neuropathology* **36**, 77-87 (2015).
- 230. Urwin, H. *et al.* FUS pathology defines the majority of tau- and TDP-43-negative frontotemporal lobar degeneration. *Acta Neuropathologica* **120**, 33-41 (2010).

- 231. Sabatelli, M. *et al.* Mutations in the 3' untranslated region of FUS causing FUS overexpression are associated with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Hum Mol Genet* **22**, 4748-55 (2013).
- 232. Ling, S.C., Polymenidou, M. & Cleveland, D.W. Converging mechanisms in ALS and FTD: disrupted RNA and protein homeostasis. *Neuron* **79**, 416-38 (2013).
- 233. Dormann, D. *et al.* ALS-associated fused in sarcoma (FUS) mutations disrupt Transportin-mediated nuclear import. *Embo j* **29**, 2841-57 (2010).
- 234. Kino, Y. *et al.* Intracellular localization and splicing regulation of FUS/TLS are variably affected by amyotrophic lateral sclerosislinked mutations. *Nucleic acids research* **39**, 2781-2798 (2011).
- 235. Kryndushkin, D. & Shewmaker, F. Modeling ALS and FTLD proteinopathies in yeast: an efficient approach for studying protein aggregation and toxicity. *Prion* **5**, 250-7 (2011).
- 236. Bäumer, D. *et al.* Juvenile ALS with basophilic inclusions is a FUS proteinopathy with FUS mutations. *Neurology* **75**, 611-618 (2010).
- 237. Coady, T.H. & Manley, J.L. ALS mutations in TLS/FUS disrupt target gene expression. *Genes Dev* **29**, 1696-706 (2015).
- 238. Hoell, J.I. *et al.* RNA targets of wild-type and mutant FET family proteins. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* **18**, 1428-31 (2011).
- 239. Kamelgarn, M. *et al.* ALS mutations of FUS suppress protein translation and disrupt the regulation of nonsense-mediated decay. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **115**, E11904 (2018).
- 240. Stronati, E. *et al.* Wild-Type and Mutant FUS Expression Reduce Proliferation and Neuronal Differentiation Properties of Neural Stem Progenitor Cells. *Int J Mol Sci* **22**(2021).
- 241. Wolozin, B. & Ivanov, P. Stress granules and neurodegeneration. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* **20**, 649-666 (2019).
- 242. Asadi, M.R. *et al.* Stress Granules and Neurodegenerative Disorders: A Scoping Review. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience* **13**(2021).
- 243. Lenzi, J. *et al.* ALS mutant FUS proteins are recruited into stress granules in induced pluripotent stem cell-derived motoneurons. *Dis Model Mech* **8**, 755-66 (2015).
- 244. Bello, M.L. *et al.* ALS-related mutant FUS protein is mislocalized to cytoplasm and is recruited into stress granules of fibroblasts from asymptomatic FUS P525L mutation carriers. *Neurodegenerative Diseases* **17**, 292-303 (2017).
- 245. Shelkovnikova, T.A., Robinson, H.K., Southcombe, J.A., Ninkina, N. & Buchman, V.L. Multistep process of FUS aggregation in the cell cytoplasm involves RNA-dependent and RNA-independent mechanisms. *Human Molecular Genetics* **23**, 5211-5226 (2014).

- 246. Shelkovnikova, T.A. *et al.* Antiviral immune response as a trigger of FUS proteinopathy in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Cell reports* **29**, 4496-4508. e4 (2019).
- 247. Baron, D.M. *et al.* Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis-linked FUS/TLS alters stress granule assembly and dynamics. *Mol Neurodegener* **8**, 30 (2013).
- 248. Sama, R.R. *et al.* FUS/TLS assembles into stress granules and is a prosurvival factor during hyperosmolar stress. *J Cell Physiol* **228**, 2222-31 (2013).
- 249. Kamelgarn, M. *et al.* Proteomic analysis of FUS interacting proteins provides insights into FUS function and its role in ALS. *Biochim Biophys Acta* **1862**, 2004-14 (2016).
- 250. Kato, M. *et al.* Cell-free formation of RNA granules: low complexity sequence domains form dynamic fibers within hydrogels. *Cell* **149**, 753-67 (2012).
- 251. Murakami, T. *et al.* ALS/FTD Mutation-Induced Phase Transition of FUS Liquid Droplets and Reversible Hydrogels into Irreversible Hydrogels Impairs RNP Granule Function. *Neuron* **88**, 678-690 (2015).
- 252. Han, T.W. *et al.* Cell-free formation of RNA granules: bound RNAs identify features and components of cellular assemblies. *Cell* **149**, 768-779 (2012).
- Park, S.-K. *et al.* Overexpression of a conserved HSP40 chaperone reduces toxicity of several neurodegenerative disease proteins. *Prion* 12, 16-22 (2018).
- 254. Brangwynne, C.P., Tompa, P. & Pappu, R.V. Polymer physics of intracellular phase transitions. *Nature Physics* **11**, 899-904 (2015).
- 255. Murray, D.T. *et al.* Structure of FUS Protein Fibrils and Its Relevance to Self-Assembly and Phase Separation of Low-Complexity Domains. *Cell* **171**, 615-627.e16 (2017).
- 256. Monahan, Z. *et al.* Phosphorylation of the FUS low-complexity domain disrupts phase separation, aggregation, and toxicity. *The EMBO Journal* **36**, 2951-2967 (2017).
- Guo, L. *et al.* Nuclear-Import Receptors Reverse Aberrant Phase Transitions of RNA-Binding Proteins with Prion-like Domains. *Cell* 173, 677-692.e20 (2018).
- 258. Hofweber, M. *et al.* Phase Separation of FUS Is Suppressed by Its Nuclear Import Receptor and Arginine Methylation. *Cell* **173**, 706-719.e13 (2018).
- 259. Furukawa, Y., Kaneko, K., Matsumoto, G., Kurosawa, M. & Nukina, N. Cross-seeding fibrillation of Q/N-rich proteins offers new pathomechanism of polyglutamine diseases. *Journal of Neuroscience* 29, 5153-5162 (2009).

- 260. Maharana, S. *et al.* RNA buffers the phase separation behavior of prion-like RNA binding proteins. *Science* **360**, 918-921 (2018).
- 261. Devoy, A. *et al.* Humanized mutant FUS drives progressive motor neuron degeneration without aggregation in 'FUSDelta14'knockin mice. *Brain* **140**, 2797-2805 (2017).
- 262. Xia, R. *et al.* Motor neuron apoptosis and neuromuscular junction perturbation are prominent features in a Drosophila model of Fusmediated ALS. *Molecular Neurodegeneration* **7**, 10 (2012).
- 263. Kryndushkin, D., Wickner, R.B. & Shewmaker, F. FUS/TLS forms cytoplasmic aggregates, inhibits cell growth and interacts with TDP-43 in a yeast model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Protein & Cell* 2, 223-236 (2011).